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Definitions & Glossary of Terms:

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.
If you are in any doubt as to the action to be taken, you should consult your stockbroker
or other financial adviser authorised pursuant to the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 immediately.

Definitions
AAPG
American Association of Petroleum Geologists
ABS
The American Bureau of Shipping
AGIP
Nigerian AGIP Oil Company Limited
AIM	the market of that name operated by the London
Stock Exchange
Assam block licence AS-ONN-2000/1
Bayelsa
Bayelsa Oil Company Limited
Board
the Board of Directors of Hardy Oil and Gas plc
the Company Hardy Oil and Gas plc
CPCL	Chennai Petroleum Company Limited, formerly
known as Madras Refinery Limited
CSR
corporate social responsibility
D3
licence KG-DWN-2003/1 awarded in NELP V
D9
licence KG-DWN-2001/1 awarded in NELP III
Dhirubhai 33 gas discovery on GS-01-B1 well
Dhirubhai 39 gas discovery on KGV-D3-A1 well
Dhirubhai 41 gas discovery on KGV-D3-B1 well
DPR
Nigerian Department of Petroleum Resources
Emerald
Emerald Energy Resources Limited
Eogas
EOGAS Petroleum & Geosciences Nigeria Ltd.
FDP
field development plan
FPU
floating production unit
FSO
floating storage and offloading vessel
GAIL
Gas Authority of India Limited
Ganesha
gas discovery on Fan-A1 well located in CY-OS/2
GCA
Gaffney, Cline & Associates Ltd.
GIO	
Government of India
Group
the Company and its subsidiaries
GS-01
licence GS-OSN-2000/1 awarded under NELP II
Hardy
Hardy Oil and Gas plc
HEPI
Hardy Exploration & Production (India) Inc.
HOEC
Hindustan Oil Exploration Company Limited
HON
Hardy Oil Nigeria Limited
HSE
health, safety and environment
IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards
IPO
initial public offering
London Stock
Exchange
London Stock Exchange plc
LTA
lost time accident
Main Market	Official List of the London Stock Exchange’s market
for listed securities
Millenium
Millenium Oil and Gas Company Limited
NELP	New Exploration Licensing Policy of the
Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas of India
NNPC
Nigerian National Petroleum Company
OML
oil mining licence
ONGC	Oil and Natural Gas Corporation Limited
Ordinary
the ordinary share of US$ 0.01 each in the capital
Shares
of the Company
SPE
Society of Petroleum Engineers
Phase III	the PY-3 development plan comprising the drilling
of two further wells, one intended for production
and one for water injection

If you have sold or transferred all of your ordinary shares in Hardy Oil and Gas Plc
(the “Company”) please forward this document and the accompanying form of proxy to
the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom the
sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.
Notice of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 15-19 Athol Street,
Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB on 29 May 2008 at 10.00 a.m. is set out at the end of this
document. A form of proxy is also enclosed with this document for use at the meeting.
Forms of proxy should be completed and returned to 15-19 Athol Street, Douglas,
Isle of Man IM1 1LB by no later than 10.00 a.m. on 27 May 2008.
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PSC
PY-3
Reliance
SPDC
UK
US
WPC

production sharing contract
licence CY-OS-90/1
Reliance Industries Limited
Shell Petroleum Development Company of Nigeria
United Kingdom
United States of America
World Petroleum Council

Glossary of terms:
$
United States dollars
2D/3D
two dimensional/three dimensional
2P
proven plus probable
API°
American Petroleum Institute gravity
AVO
amplitude variations with offset
bbl
barrel
Bcf
Billion cubic feet
bwpd
barrels of water per day
Contingent
Resources	those quantities of petroleum estimates,
as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable
from known accumulations by application of
development projects, but which are not currently
considered to be commercially recoverable due
to one or more contingencies
DST
drill stem test
DWT
dead weight tonne
FDP
field development plan
GIIP
gas initially in place
GOR
gas to oil ratio
km
kilometre
kilometre squared
km2
lkm
line kilometre
m
metre
MDRT
measured depth from the rotary table
MDT
modular formation dynamics tester
MMbbl
million barrels
MMscfd
million standard cubic feet per day
MMstbd
million stock tank barrels per day
Prospective
Resources	those quantities of petroleum which are estimated,
as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable
from undiscovered accumulations
PSDM
pre-stack depth migration
psi
pounds per square inch
scf
standard cubic feet
scfd
standard cubic feet per day
SPM
single point mooring
stb
stock tank barrel
stbd
stock tank barrel per day
TCF
trillion cubic feet
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Hardy Oil and Gas plc is an upstream
international oil and gas company
whose assets are principally in India and to a
lesser extent in Nigeria. Its portfolio includes
a blend of production, development, appraisal
and exploration assets. Hardy’s goal is to
evaluate and exploit its asset base with a view
to creating significant value for its shareholders.
Hardy is incorporated under the laws of the Isle of Man and headquartered
in London, UK. Ordinary shares of Hardy were admitted to the Official List
and the London Stock Exchange’s market for listed securities effective
20 February 2008 under the symbol HDY.

All financial amounts are represented in US dollars unless otherwise stated.

Operational Highlights
2007
+	Announced discoveries on CY-OS/2 block (Ganesha) and GS-01 block (Dhirubhai 33).
+ Acquired additional 2,800 km2 of 3D seismic data on the D3 block.
+ Conducted a successful production flow test of the Oza-4 well.
+ Gross operated production 4,150 stbd (2006: 5,811 stbd).
2008 to date
+ Announced two discoveries (Dhirubhai 39 and 41) on the D3 block .
+	Granted the onshore petroleum exploration licence AS-OON-2000/1 located in Assam.
+	Completed the acquisition of a further 1,100 km2 3D seismic data on the GS-01 block.
+	Farmed out a portion of Oza field to fund the field development programme.
Financial Highlights
+	Net profit of $8.3 million* (2006: $10.2 million).
+	C apital expenditure of $32.2 million (2006: $51.6 million).
+	C ash and cash equivalent at 31 December 2007 of $31.2 million (2006: $24.5 million).
+	Placement of equity shares in June 2007 raising $40.2 million (2006: $24.5 million).
*Includes after-tax gain of $7.4 million from sale of investment.
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HARDY OIL AND GAS PLC AT A GLANCE
Hardy Oil and Gas plc has existing production from an
offshore field in India’s Cauvery basin. Hardy also has
interests in exploration blocks in India’s Saurashtra,
Cauvery, Krishna Godavari and Assam basins and two
development licences in Nigeria.

CAUVERY
BASIN
CY-OS-90/1
+ Offshore oil field
(Interest of 18%).
+H
 ardy operated/secondary
recovery with water-flood.
+2
 007 average production
of 4,150 stbd.
+ 2008 ongoing preparation
to enhance production.
CY-OS/2
+ Exploration Licence
(Interest of 75%).

“The pursuit of our Indian strategy resulted in
the award of the Assam onshore petroleum
exploration licence AS-ONN-2000/1.”

+H
 ardy operated/
area 859 km2.

Sastry Karra
Chief Executive

+ 2008 commencement of
3 well appraisal programme.

+ 2007 Ganesha gas
discovery in Fan-A1 well.
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KRISHNA
GODAVARI
BASIN

GUJARAT
SAURASHTRA
BASIN

NIGER DELTA
(NIGERIA)

D3 (KG-DWN-2003/1)

GS-01 (GS-OSN-2000/1)

Oza (concession within OML 11)

+ Exploration licence (PI 10%).

+ Exploration licence (PI 10%).

+D
 evelopment field (WI 20%).

+ Reliance operated/
area 3,288 km2.

+ Reliance operated/
area 8,841 km2.

+M
 illennium operated/
area 23 km2.

+ 2007 acquired 2,800 km2
of 3D seismic data.

+ 2007 Dhirubhai 33 gas
discovery – production
tested at 18 MMscfd.

+2
 007 conducted successful
well flow test of Oza-4.

+ 2008 Dhirubhai 39 and 41
gas discoveries production
tested at 38 MMscfd.
D9 (KG-DWN-2001/1)

+ 2008 drill three further
exploration wells.

ASSAM BASIN

+ 2007 interpretation of
existing 3D seismic data.
+ 2008 commence drilling of
first exploration well.

Atala (concession within OML 46)
+D
 evelopment field (WI 20%).

+ Exploration licence (PI 10%).
+ Reliance operated/
area 11,605 km2.

+ 2008 commence initial field
development programme.

Assam block (AS-ONN-2000/1)
+ Petroleum exploration
licence (PI 10%).
+ Reliance operated
area 5,754 km2.
+ 2008 acquire 500 lkm
of seismic.

+ Bayelsa operated/
area 34 km2.
+ 2007 completed field
development plan.
+2
 008 secure swamp barge
drill rig.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

“Our exploration success
in India underpins
our strategy to create
shareholder value through
high impact exploration
interests and mitigating
risk through appropriate
partnerships.”
E. P. Mortimer
Chairman

Overview
2007 was another successful year for our growing
company. The Board remained focused on executing
the Company’s strategy of creating shareholder
value through the de-risking of the Company’s Indian
exploration portfolio, whilst continuing production from
its development assets.
The year commenced with the announcement of the Ganesha discovery on
the Hardy-operated CY-OS/2 exploration block on the east coast of India.
This was followed by the announcement in May of the Dhirubhai 33 gas
discovery on the GS-01 exploration block on the west coast of India.
The Company completed a further placing of new Ordinary Shares in June
raising over $40.2 million to fund our ongoing capital programme at
423 pence per share.
2008 has also started well, with the recent announcements of two
consecutive discoveries on the D3 exploration block on the east coast
of India and the expansion of the Company’s exploration portfolio with
the granting of a petroleum exploration licence for the AS-ONN-2000/1
onshore block in Assam, India.
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Corporate
During the year, the Board took the decision to move the listing of Hardy’s
shares from AIM to the Official List of the London Stock Exchange’s market
for listed securities (‘Main Market’). The admission of Hardy’s shares to
the Main Market should assist in increasing the profile and liquidity of the
Company’s Ordinary Shares whilst increasing access to capital to fund its
future exploration and development expenditures.
Hardy’s shares began trading on the Main Market on 20 February 2008
and with effect from 26 March 2008 Hardy’s shares have been included in
the FTSE 250 index.
The senior executive team has been strengthened with the appointment
of Mr Dinesh Dattani in July 2007 as Finance Director. Mr Dattani’s strong
financial background in the upstream oil and gas industry provides greater
balance to the executive team. We will continue to look for appropriate
additions to strengthen the Board and the senior management team.

Outlook
We will continue to work closely with the Ministry of Petroleum and key
industry groups, in connection with the Government of India’s recent
intervention in gas pricing and proposed modification to the tax holiday,
to help ensure that our interests and those of all operators in India
are protected.
Over the past decade the oil and gas industry in India, in partnership with
the Government, has invested heavily in various midstream and upstream
projects. In 2008, the first gas production from the Reliance Industries
Limited (Reliance) operated D6 block adjacent to the Company’s D9
block in the Krishna Godavari basin will commence . This will significantly
increase the supply of gas into the energy-constrained Indian market.
The infrastructure and market development associated with this east
coast domestic gas supply augurs well for the rapid exploration and
development of the D3 and D9 blocks in the Krishna Godavari basin,
in which Hardy has an interest.
The Board looks to the balance of 2008 with great anticipation. In 2008,
the Company is planning for the largest drilling programme in its history,
with six exploration wells and up to two appraisal wells. Our asset base
has also increased in India with the addition of the Assam block providing
further long-term growth potential. The Company is in excellent shape and
we are enthusiastic about the year ahead.

E. P. Mortimer
Chairman
9 April 2008

“We have made an encouraging
start to 2008 with the moving
of our share listing to the Main
Market of the London Stock
Exchange and two discoveries
on the D3 block. “
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

“The Company will
continue to focus on
organic growth as our
primary strategy to create
shareholder value.”
Sastry Karra
Chief Executive

Summary of the Year
2007 was a landmark year for Hardy. In India,
our discovery on CY-OS/2 block (Ganesha) has
increased the Company’s Contingent Resource
inventory, which will be further appraised in the
latter part of 2008 and early 2009 with the
drilling of three wells on the Fan-A discovery.
The announced discovery of Dhirubhai 33 on the GS-01 block, with
our partner Reliance, also contributed to the growth of our Contingent
Resource inventory. An appraisal programme has been proposed by the
operator and is currently under review by the joint venture. Drilling of an
additional three exploration wells will commence in the second quarter
of 2008 targeting several other independent prospects.
The recent KGV-D3-A1 (Dhirubhai 39) and KGV-D3-B1 (Dhirubhai 41)
gas discoveries on the D3 block are an encouraging start to evaluating
the prospectivity of this block. We anticipate that the newly acquired 3D
seismic data will identify further drilling prospects as we complete the full
evaluation of the block.

Key Financial Results
Revenue in 2007, as anticipated, decreased to $11.8 million in 2007
compared to $21.3 million in 2006. This was due to several factors
including the expected increase in the Government of India’s profit
oil share, a decrease in production levels and an increase in closing
inventory. Net profit was $8.3 million compared to $10.2 million in
2006. The Company also realised a gain of $10.2 million from the
sale of shares in Hindustan Oil Exploration Company Limited (HOEC).
Diluted earnings per share were $0.13 in 2007 compared to $0.17 for
2006. We anticipate that earnings will continue to fall in 2008 as PY-3
operating and administrative costs have increased while production from
PY-3 will decline from 2007 levels.
The active drilling programme in 2007 resulted in capital expenditure
of $32.2 million compared with $51.6 million in 2006.
At the end of 2007, the Company had cash reserves of $31.2 million.
In 2007, the Company raised $40.2 million through a placing of 5,009,541
Ordinary Shares. The Company participated in an HOEC rights issue and
also partially liquidated its investment in HOEC resulting in a net addition
to cash resources of $7.4 million during January 2008.
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India

Nigeria

In 2007 the major focus of the Company was on the Hardy-operated
assets, CY-OS/2 exploration licence and PY-3 production block.

We observed several key milestones with respect to our Nigerian operations.

PY-3 – Production from the PY-3 field was lower than expected in 2007
due to the shut-in of the PY-3-3RL well in August 2007. The drilling of two
additional wells (Phase III) is on-track but additional production from this
drilling programme is not expected until 2009.
CY-OS/2 – The Fan-A1 well discovery (Ganesha) was announced at the
beginning of the year and the focus quickly turned to evaluating results
and, subsequently, submitting an appraisal programme to the CY-OS/2
joint venture. The additional geological and geophysical work, along with
well planning, remains a focus of the Group as we move into 2008. We are
considering farming-out a portion of our interest to be more consistent
with the risk profile of the Company’s other exploration assets.
Results on our non-operated exploration assets have also been encouraging
as we continue to pursue our strategy of de-risking this portfolio.
GS-01 – The gas discovery in well GS-01-B1 (Dhirubhai 33) was the
second well to be drilled under this exploration licence. The operator has
submitted an appraisal programme which is awaiting approval. A further
three exploration wells are scheduled to commence drilling in the second
quarter of 2008.
The assets that continue to generate the most interest and anticipation
are the Company’s Krishna Godavari basin blocks D9 and D3.
D9 – Due to the industry-wide shortage of drilling ships capable of
operating in water depths greater than 2,000 m, delays have been
experienced on the D9 exploration licence. We anticipate that drilling
of the first well on the D9 block may commence before the end of 2008.
D3 – The drilling phase on D3 began much sooner than expected
with the commencement of drilling of the first well at the end of
2007. Subsequently, we were pleased to announced two successive
gas discoveries on the block, with encouraging initial testing results
including an observed flow rate of 38.1 MMscfd. We anticipate that
the operator will submit an appraisal programme for approval shortly.
Further drilling on the D3 block is not expected to commence until
the first quarter of 2009 as the joint venture evaluates the additional
2,800 km2 of 3D seismic acquired in 2007.
Assam – As announced on 3 April 2008, the pursuit of our Indian strategy
resulted in the award of the Assam onshore petroleum exploration licence
AS-ONN-2000/1. We are also delighted with the Company’s continued
partnership with Reliance. This is the fourth block that Hardy holds in
partnership with Reliance and the Company’s first onshore asset in India.
The block provides further long-term potential to create significant
shareholder value.

Oza – Hardy was able to conduct its first full field operation with the well
flow test of Oza-4. The initial results are positive and, more importantly,
the operator received cooperation and support from the local
communities. We have established open channels of dialogue with all
stakeholders in the Oza communities and we look for this to continue as
we move towards initial field development in the latter part of 2008.
As announced on 3 April 2008 the Company entered into an agreement
to farm-out a 20 per cent interest in the Oza block to Emerald Energy
Resources Limited (Emerald). Emerald has agreed to assume Hardy’s
financial obligations in the funding of the Oza field initial development
programme.
Atala – Securing the necessary equipment for the planned re-entry
operating in Atala continues to be difficult. The Company’s Nigerian
management team have been working closely with a consortium of
swamp operators. This group has several options available to them and we
anticipate that greater clarity on the timing of operation will be achieved
in 2008.

2008 Programme
We are looking forward to an active 2008 with the following plan of work:
+ GS-01 – Drilling of three exploration wells
+ D3 – Processing and interpretation of acquired 3D seismic data
+	D3 – Submission of appraisal programme for Dhirubhai 39 and
41 discovery
+	CY-OS/2 – Commencement of appraisal drilling to assess
Ganesha discovery
+ D9 – Commencement of exploration drilling programme
+ Assam – Acquisition of 350 line km of 2D seismic data
+ Oza – Commence field development operations.
The Company will continue to focus on organic growth as our primary
strategy to create shareholder value. The NELP rounds have become
increasingly competitive; however, they still offer the most direct way
of acquiring exploration acreage in India.

Staff
The accomplishments of 2007 would not have been possible without
the dedication of the Company’s staff in India, Nigeria and London, UK.
The India team continues to drive the core of our business. The Nigerian
team have reached a key milestone in 2007 despite challenging conditions.
The corporate team in London, along with the India team in Chennai,
were instrumental in the efficient execution of the Main Market listing.
I would like to take this moment to recognise them all for their efforts
in the past year.

Sastry Karra
Chief Executive
9 April 2008
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

“The exploration drilling
programme on the
D3 block commenced earlier
than expected, with the
KGV-D3-A1 well, which
has resulted in the first
discovery on this licence
named Dhirubhai 39.”
Yogeshwar Sharma
Chief Operating Officer

Review of Operations
At the beginning of 2007, the Company planned to drill three exploration
wells, conduct a production test of two wells in Oza, and acquire 3,288 km2
of 3D seismic data. At the end of 2007, the Company had participated in
the drilling of three exploration wells, the production testing of one well
and the acquisition of 2,800 km2 of 3D seismic data.
During 2007, and as part of the process of moving the Company to the
Main Market, an independent report was prepared for the Company by
Gaffney, Cline & Associates Ltd (GCA) on the reserves and resources
inventory of the Company. As at 30 June 2007, GCA estimated 2.69 million
barrels of Proved plus Probable (2P) net entitlement reserves in the
PY-3 field.
The Company’s operations in India are conducted through its wholly
owned subsidiary Hardy Exploration & Production (India) Inc. (HEPI).
The Company’s operations in Nigeria are conducted through its wholly
owned subsidiary Hardy Oil Nigeria Limited (HON).

CAUVERY BASIN – Eastern India
Block CY-OS 90/1 (PY-3): Producing Oil Field
(Hardy 18% interest – Operator)
Production
Actual gross field production for the year ended 31 December 2007
was 4,150 stbd (2006: 5,811 stbd). The production facilities’ uptime
performance was 96.8 per cent (2006: 96.7 per cent). The decrease in
production was attributable to the seizure of the PY3-3 RL well, due to
water loading, in August 2007 and the failure of the Endeavor’s (FSO)
mooring system in December 2007 (resulting in 11 days’ shut-in).
The production forecast for 2008 is 2,700 stbd, reflecting the expected
continued natural decline of the field. In 2008, around 10 days’ downtime
is anticipated due to the need to carry out underwater inspection and
maintenance work on Normor Buoy (SPM) to comply with ABS certification
requirements. Increase in PY-3 production is not anticipated until 2009.
For the year ended 31 December 2007, the average water injection rate
was 5,800 bwpd (2006: 6,678 bwpd) which, at current production levels,
is sufficient to maintain voidage replacement. Injection facilities’ uptime
performance was 86.8 per cent (2006: 96.7 per cent). The reduction in
uptime was attributable to the scheduled plant shutdown in March 2007
for further underwater inspection and for rectifying the FSO forward
mooring system in December 2007.

Hardy Oil and Gas plc
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Operations
The PY-3 field joint venture has approved a $90.0 million Phase III
development programme which provides for the drilling of two additional
lateral wells (one producer and one injector) and various gathering lines
and facility upgrades. The Company has issued a request for tender for
long-lead items such as subsea trees and flow lines.
In order to identify a suitable production facility for the operation of
the PY-3 field beyond July 2009, Hardy commissioned a Conceptual
Field Design study that was undertaken by ODE Ltd, UK. Based on the
recommendations obtained from the ODE study, further investigations
are in progress to select a suitable production facility.

Background
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CAUVERY BASIN – Eastern India
Block CY-OS/2: Exploration
(Hardy 75% interest – Operator)
Operations
In 2007 HEPI completed the exploration licence’s phase III minimum
work programme. On 8 January 2007 the Company announced that the
Fan-A1 well had discovered hydrocarbons. On 10 August 2007 the Company
announced that it would proceed with an appraisal programme to delineate
the Cretaceous Fan-A1 discovery to establish the potential commerciality of
the Cretaceous with the planned drilling of three further wells.

The PY-3 field is located off the East Coast of India 80 km south of
Pondicherry in water depths of between 40 and 200 m. The Cauvery basin
developed in the late Jurassic/early Cretaceous period and straddles the
present-day East Coast of India.

As part of the appraisal programme a number of geological and
geophysical studies have been undertaken, including the reprocessing
of the 3D seismic data covering the block to improve subsurface imaging.
Special studies such as AVO and inversion are ongoing to improve
characterisation and delineation of the reservoir.

The licence, which covers 81 km2, is currently the deepest producing
subsea field in India and produces oil of high quality light crude (49° API).
The field was developed using floating production facilities and subsea
wellheads, a first for an offshore field in India.

Analysis of oil and gas crude samples and other well data from the
Fan-E1 and Fan-A1 wells were also undertaken in 2007, including
geochemical studies.

HEPI is the Operator of the PY-3 field, and the participating interests for
this licence are as follows:

HEPI has recently hired a third party to begin the well planning work and
to provide well management services and consultation through the entire
appraisal drilling programme. Subject to rig availability, the drilling portion of
the appraisal programme is expected to start in the fourth quarter of 2008.

HEPI
18%

TATA
21%

HOEC
21%

ONGC
405

The facility at PY-3 consists of the floating production unit, ‘Tahara’,
and a 65,000 DWT tanker, ‘Endeavor’, which acts as a floating storage
and offloading unit. There are four sub-sea wells tied back to Tahara.
Tahara has a three-stage crude oil separation system, with the first two
stages being three-phase separators and the third stage a two-phase
separator. Actual liquid processing capacity on Tahara is 20,000 stbd
with 17 MMscfd of gas handling capacity.
The field currently produces associated gas in the range of 3.5 MMscfd.
This produced gas is used as fuel gas, with excess gas being flared.
The stabilised crude oil is pumped from Tahara to Endeavor for storage and
offloading to shuttle tankers. Crude oil from the PY-3 field is sold to CPCL at
its refinery in Nagapattinam, approximately 70 km south of the PY-3 field.

The Board is presently considering farming out a portion of its
participating interest in the licence.

Background
The CY-OS/2 block is located in the northern part of the Cauvery Basin
immediately offshore from Pondicherry and covers approximately 859
km2. The CY-OS/2 licence comprises two retained areas. The northern
area includes the Fan-A1 discovery. The southern area lies immediately
adjacent to the HEPI operated PY-3 field. The PY-1 gas field lies within the
southern part of the acreage and is expected to begin production by the
first quarter of 2009.
HEPI is the operator of this licence. The participating interests in licence
CY-OS/2 are as follows:
Area
CY-OS/2

HEPI
75%

GAIL
25%

ONGC*
–

*In the event of a commercial discovery, ONGC has the option to back into
the CY-OS/2 licence at an interest of 30 per cent.

10

Hardy Oil and Gas plc
Annual Report 2007

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)
The PY-3 oil field and PY-1 gas field are both contained within the
CY-OS/2 licence but have been ring-fenced out, each with a separate PSC.
The CY-OS/2 exploration licence has been under an approved phase III
extension which expired at the end of March 2007. HEPI, as operator of
the joint venture, has fulfilled the exploration phase III commitment work
programme of 3D seismic surveys and drilling of two exploratory wells.

GUJARAT-SAURASHTRA BASIN – Western India
Block GS-OSN-2000/1 (GS-01): Exploration
(Hardy 10% interest)
Operations
To date the GS-01 joint venture has drilled two exploration wells on
the GS-01 block. On 15 May 2007 Hardy announced that the second
exploration well, GS-01-B1, had discovered hydrocarbons in the
mid-Miocene Limestone (Dhirubhai 33). The exploration well was
drilled to a depth of 2,282 m MDRT and encountered natural gas and
condensate within the mid Miocene Limestone over an interval from
1,988 m to 2,052 m MDRT.
The two intervals selected for cased hole DST were 1,988 m to 1,993 m
and 2,019 m to 2038 m MDRT respectively. The test produced natural gas
at a rate of 18.6 MMscfd together with 415 stbd of condensate through a
56/64 “ choke with a flowing tubing head pressure of 1,346 psi.
The operator has subsequently proposed an appraisal programme
involving additional 3D seismic data interpretation, development concept
studies, reserve assessment and validation, and two contingent appraisal
wells. The appraisal wells will be dependent on the findings of the
proposed studies.
The proposed exploration programme for 2008 comprises of the
acquisition of an additional 1,000 km2 of 3D seismic data and the drilling
of three further exploration wells which will meet the phase I work
commitment for the exploration licence. The 3D seismic acquisition
programme was completed in March 2008 covering 1,165 km2 and
processing and interpretation is expected to be fast-tracked by the
operator. The three-well drilling programme is expected to commence
by the end of April 2008.
In 2008, the GS-01 joint venture will be required to elect to proceed to
phase III of the exploration licence or relinquish the block not covered by
the appraisal programme. The minimum work programme for phase III
stipulates the drilling of eight exploration wells.

Andhra Pradesh

Block D3

Block D9

Krishna-Godavari Basin

Background
The GS-01 exploration licence is located in the Gujarat-Saurashtra offshore
basin, off the west coast of India, directly adjacent to the prolific Bombay
High oil field. The licence encompasses 8,841 km2, and water depths vary
between 80 and 150 m. The joint venture has previously acquired 1,216 km2
of 3D seismic. The participating interests for this licence are as follows:
Area		
GS-01		

HEPI
10%

Reliance
90%

Typical trap types within this basin are fault-bound anticline and
stratigraphic carbonate traps (including reefal structures and carbonate
build-ups). The identified prospects are located in the Miocene, Oligocene
and Eocene carbonates and Paleocene Basal clastics.

KRISHNA GODAVARI BASIN – Eastern India
Block KG-DWN-2001/1 (D9): Exploration
(Hardy 10% interest)
Operations
As announced by the Company on 13 February 2008, after careful
consideration of the current equipment shortage and the priority of the
operator to complete offsetting commercial developments, the Board is
of the view that drilling on the D9 licence is unlikely to commence until
the latter part of 2008.
However, as experienced with the D3 licence, windows of availability do
occur and the Directors will endeavour to ensure that shareholders are
notified of developments on a timely basis.
During 2007, the operator continued to interpret and evaluate the
3D seismic data. PSDM reprocessing 3D seismic data was completed
and the data is being studied to optimise the selected locations for drilling.
Sea-bed logging was also conducted and the results provided encouraging
results with similar indicators observed in the adjacent D6 block.

Background
The licence encompasses 11,605 km2 in the Bay of Bengal where water
depths vary from 2,300 m to 3,100 m. The participating interests for this
licence are as follows:
Area		
D9		

HEPI
10%

Reliance
90%

The joint venture has acquired over 4,188 km2 of 3D seismic and leads
at Upper Miocene, Middle Miocene and Oligocene have been identified.
These leads are areally large structural closures located toward the
relatively shallower-water north-western corner of the concession,
for which GIIP of many TCF has been computed by the operator. A fourth
lead is a Pleistocene channel in the south eastern part of the block which
is in ultra deep water with a prognosticated GIIP of a similar order of
magnitude to the other leads.
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“Hardy was pleased to announce
the award of a 10% interest in
the exploration licence AS-ONN2000/1.”

In August 2005, Reliance and HEPI were awarded, under NELP V,
a second licence in the deepwater Krishna Godavari Basin. The D3 licence
encompasses an area of 3,288 km2, in water depths of 400 m to 2,100 m,
and is located approximately 45 km from the east coast. Reliance is the
operator. The participating interests for this licence are as follows:

Initial exploration will be focused upon amplitude anomalies within
closure in the Miocene and Pliocene rather than a pure structural
play. There are many seismic anomalies within the block and, given its
proximity to D6, exploration potential of this large block is regarded
with considerable optimism.

The licence had approximately 410 km2 of existing 3D seismic data,
which has been reprocessed. The A-1 and B-1 locations were identified
after this data was interpreted and mapped.

KRISHNA GODAVARI BASIN – Eastern India
Block KG-DWN-2003/1 (D3): Exploration
(Hardy 10% interest)

Background

Area		
D3		

HEPI
10%

Reliance
90%

ASSAM ARAKAN BASIN – North Eastern India
Block AS-ONN-2000/1: Exploration
(Hardy 10% interest)
Operations

In 2007 the operator acquired 2,800 km2 of 3D seismic data. The D3 joint
venture has also taken the decision to process and evaluate the acquired
data prior to acquiring additional data with the intention of modifying the
acquisition parameters to optimise the data quality.

On 2 April 2008, Hardy was pleased to announce the award of a 10%
interest in the exploration licence AS-ONN-2000/1. This is the Group’s first
onshore block and fourth licence in partnership with Reliance. This block
was offered in NELP II but commencement of operations had been delayed
due to the outstanding grant of an onshore petroleum exploration licence
from the appropriate state agencies.

The exploration drilling programme commenced earlier than expected
on 28 December 2007, with the KGV-D3-A1 well which has resulted in the
first discovery on this licence named Dhirubhai 39. The well was drilled to
a depth of 1,937 m MDRT and encountered natural gas between 1,513 m
and 1,597 m MDRT with a gross sand thickness of 84 m.

The proposed 2008 work programme primarily involves the reprocessing
of the 124 line km (lkm) of existing 2D seismic data. Field operations are
expected to commence in the fourth quarter of 2008 with the acquisition
of approximately 350 lkm of 2D seismic data. This will meet the phase I
minimum work programme commitment for the block.

Operations

One interval was selected for cased hole DST covering 1,565 m to
1,585 m MDRT and produced natural gas at a rate of 38.1 MMscfd
through a 120/64 " choke.
The D3 joint venture then moved the rig ‘‘C Kirk Rhein’’ to a second location
(KGV-D3-B1) to evaluate the Pleistocene and Late to Mid Miocene
sandstone reservoirs. On 1 April 2008, the Company announced a second
discovery (Dhirubhai 41) on the D3 block. The well encountered good
quality reservoirs in the Pleistocene and Miocene formations. MDT tests
were conducted over several intervals (1,814 to 2,101 m MDRT and 2,119
to 2,463 m MDRT) and confirmed the presence of hydrocarbons. Several
gas samples were collected over both intervals however, due to poor well
bore casing integrity, a decision was taken to not conduct a DST and the
well was plugged and abandoned.

The AS-ONN-2000/1 exploration licence is located in the north eastern
state of Assam, India, and north of Brahmaputra River. The exploration
licence covers an area of 5,754 km2 and falls within the districts of Darrang
and Sonitpur. The block is in phase I of the three-phase exploration licence.
Phase I is over three years and will expire in the month of January 2011.
The participating interests for this licence are as follows:
Area		
Assam		

BLOCK

HEPI
10%

Bhareli River

Although early indications are encouraging, the potential extent and
commerciality of the Dhirubhai 39 and 41 discoveries are yet to be
established. On 31 March 2008 the operator issued a B-1 notification to
DGH stating the details of the tests carried out. It is anticipated that the
operator will submit an appraisal programme for approval in the second
half of 2008.

Background

Reliance
90%

AS-ONN-2000/1

Brahmaputra River

Assam Block
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

NIGER DELTA BASIN – Nigeria
Block Oza (OML 11): Development
(Hardy 20% interest)
Operations

“The Oza joint venture successfully
executed a flow test of the Oza
4 well. This is a significant step
towards full development of
the field.”
The topography of the area is primarily a plain of low relief and there is a
reasonably established road network across the block. A national highway
runs parallel to the river Brahmaputra and passes through the block.
Assam foreland constitutes the shelf part of the Assam – Arakan
intermontane basin. It forms a north-east south-west trending,
largely alluvium-covered, narrow, linear tract encompassing an area
of 40,000 km2. The exploration block lies north of Brahmaputra River
while most of the discovered oilfields in the basin are located south
of Brahmaputra River over an area of approximately 4,000 km2.
Intense exploration activities since 1956 have resulted in the discovery
of seven major fields which include Naharkatiya, Moran, Rudrasagar,
Geleki and Lokwa. Most of these fields have reached a mature stage
of exploration for Mio-Pliocene reservoirs and are in the advanced phase
of delineation and development.
Very limited seismic data is available only in the eastern-most part of the
block and suggests the presence of subsurface structure. Different play
types expected are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Anticlinal structures within Paleocene – Eocene and Gondwana.
Fault closures.
Pinchout/wedgeout.
Fractured/weathered basement.

In November 2007 the Oza joint venture successfully executed a flow
test of the Oza 4 well. Oil and gas production rates, reservoir pressures
and crude samples were obtained during the test. This is a significant
step towards full development of the field. As technical partner,
HON has worked closely with the operator to design and implement the
field operation. The flow rates averaged approximately 600 stbd of oil with
a GOR of 5,466 scf/stb. The operator transported and sold the produced
fluids without incident.
Millenium Oil and Gas Limited, the operator for Oza field, with inputs from
HON, continued efforts to obtain additional field data in the field and to
conclude agreements for crude handling and purchase of Oza 3D seismic
with Shell Petroleum Development Company (SPDC).
Discussions are ongoing with the operator of an adjacent export facility
at a near-by flow station. Current discussions suggest that the initial work
programme will entail the installation of a 9 km multiphase pipeline to
SPDC’s Isimiri flow station. To comply with the Nigerian government’s
no-flare initiative, associated gas will need to be exported to an alternative
facility with a gas export line.
Recently HON has entered into a farm-out agreement with Emerald
Energy Resources Nigeria Limited (Emerald), a well-known local oil and
gas company. Under the terms of the farm-out agreements Emerald
assumes HON’s obligation to fund the initial work programme of the Oza
field. The capital expenditure is currently estimated at approximately
$15 million. The farm-out is subject to government approval.
Community relations will continue to be a focus of the operator and
progress is expected in discussions regarding a sustainable agreement
with the host communities surrounding the Oza field. Emerald has
extensive experience and expertise in community relations and has
committed to make available its experienced personnel to the operator.

Background
The Oza Field is located on-land in the north-western part of OML 11,
near Port Harcourt. The concession area is 20 km2. The participating
interests for this licence are as follows:
Area
Oza

HON
20%

Millennium
60%

Emerald
20%

The Oza field is subject to a farm-out agreement between NNPC, SPDC,
Elf Petroleum Nigeria Limited and AGIP as farmor and Milennium as
farmee. The terms of this agreement are for an initial five year period from
27 April 2004 subject to an extension of the Oza Farm-out Agreement if
approved by the Nigerian Department of Petroleum Resources (DPR).
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“In Oza community relations
will continue to be a focus of
the operator.”
The field has cumulatively produced approximately 1.0 MMstb from
four open zones of three wells targeting three reservoirs, M5.0, L9.0 and
M2.1, with the principal reservoir being M5.0. At present, Oza has three
suspended wells in the field.
Since taking over the field in 2004, Millenium, along with HON,
has completed a number of field operations and other studies. The log
data of existing wells has been re-analysed both internally and through
third party study to identify potential re-completion targets. There is
existing 3D seismic data covering the Oza field. Negotiations between
SPDC and Millenium for the acquisition of this data are ongoing.

NIGER DELTA BASIN – Nigeria
Block Atala (OML 46): Development
(Hardy 20% interest)
Operations
In 2007 the Atala joint venture continued to struggle to secure the
appropriate drilling equipment for a planned re-entry and test programme.
The operator, with the help and support of Hardy, has taken the initiative
to form a swamp operators group, comprising several companies with
fields in the swamps to collectively approach potential drilling companies
with suitable rigs. Meetings were held in the latter half of 2007 and
potential vendors have been identified.
During 2007, a field development plan (FDP) report was completed by
local consultant Eogas with close involvement and inputs from HON.
The FDP recommends a phased approach, initially focusing on oil
development with later completion for gas production and based on
initial production from the two wells, drilling of new oil and gas wells.
Recently the swamp operators group has identified and commenced
negotiations with several vendors for a swamp barge. It is expected that
a rig will be identified and a contract negotiated in the latter half of 2008
and the Atala operations may commence in the first quarter of 2009,
with the re-entry of Atala-1 well. HON is working closely with the operator
to finalise the re-entry programme, obtain government approvals, appoint
a competent company for procurement, logistics and rig management and
ensure all long lead items are procured in timely fashion. The Atala FDP has
been presented to the federal government for its approval.

Background
Atala is located within OML 46 which is located in a mangrove swamp on
the Dodo River, a coastal area of NW Bayelsa State. The concession area
is 34 km2. The Atala field was discovered in 1982 with the drilling of the
Atala-1 well to a total depth of 4,058 m. Hydrocarbons were encountered
and the well was cased but not tested or completed. The participating
interests for this licence are as follows:
Area
Atala

HON
20%

Millennium
60%

Emerald
20%

The Atala field is subject to a farm-out agreement between NNPC, SPDC,
Elf Petroleum Nigeria Limited and Nigerian AGIP Oil Company Limited as
farmor and Bayelsa as farmee. The terms of this agreement are for an initial
five-year period from 27 April 2004, subject to an extension of the term
of the Atala Farm-out Agreement if approved by the Nigerian Department
of Petroleum Resources.
HON entered into a farm-in agreement with Bayelsa pursuant to which
Bayelsa agreed to farm out a 20 per cent participating interest in the
Atala field to HON. HON also agreed to act as technical partner for the
development and operation of the Atala field.
The proposed development plan involves two phases. The first phase
envisages the re-entry, testing and completion of the existing Atala-1
well and the drilling of a second lateral well to optimise oil drainage.
AGIP operated Clough Creek field is the intended destination of Atala
oil for evacuation.

Yogeshwar Sharma
Chief Operating Officer
9 April 2008
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

“In 2007, the Company
successfully completed
an equity placement of
Ordinary Shares at 423
pence per share, raising
proceeds of $40.2 million.”
Dinesh Dattani
Finance Director

IFRS
Hardy has a mandatory requirement to implement International
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) for accounting periods commencing
1 January 2007.
In order to comply with IFRS, Hardy has restated consolidated and
company financial statements for 2006 and has revised its accounting
policies. Hardy has also prepared a reconciliation of its consolidated and
company financial statements under UK GAAP to those prepared under
IFRS. In addition, Hardy has prepared statements reflecting the revised
opening balance sheet at 1 January 2006.

Key Performance Indicators

Year ended 31 December
2007

Production (barrels of oil per day – 		
net entitlement basis)
573
Average realised price per barrel – $
Average cost per barrel – $

2006

844

66.65
21.19

64.82
13.64

Revenue (thousands of $)
11,830
Net profit (thousands of $)
8,316
Cash flow from operations 		
(thousands of $) *
2,588

21,317
10,233

Diluted earnings per share – $
Wells drilled
*Before change in non-cash working capital

0.13
2

14,555
0.17
2
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Operating Results
(In thousands of Dollars
unless otherwise indicated)
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Other Operating Income
Year ended 31 December
2007
2006

Production (barrels of oil per day)		
Gross Field
4,150
Participating Interest
747
Net Entitlement Interest
573

5,811
1,046
844

Sales (barrels of oil per day)		
Gross Field
3,547
Participating Interest
638

5,831
1,050

Average Realised Price per barrel – $

64.82

66.65

Production, Sales and Revenue
The Company operates the PY-3 field in the Cauvery Basin with an
18 per cent participating interest. Since August 2007, one of the three
producing wells in the PY-3 field has been shut-in due to excessive water
production. As a result of natural decline, PY-3 field crude oil production
was lower by 29 per cent during 2007 from the same period in 2006.
Current oil production is at a level of approximately 3,050 stbd.
The Company does not expect to recover additional production until
the implementation of the PY-3 field’s Phase III development.
Hardy’s net entitlement interest in production is after the Government of
India’s share of profit oil. Under the terms of the PSC, profit oil increased
from 10 per cent to 25 per cent effective 1 April 2005 and was further
increased to 40 per cent on 1 April 2006. On 1 April 2008, profit oil is
expected to increase to 50 per cent.
Revenue, after profit oil, declined from $21.3 million in 2006 to
$11.8 million in 2007. The average price realised per barrel increased
marginally to $66.65 during 2007. No sales took place during the
fourth quarter of 2007 and all production during that period was held in
inventory. Reduced revenue in 2007 resulted from lower production levels,
higher inventory levels and higher profit oil to the Government of India.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales for 2007 increased by $0.6 million during 2007. This results
principally from higher costs of operating the PY-3 field. The contract
for the floating processing and storage systems was renegotiated
effective from July 2007, resulting in a substantial increase in day rates.
The increase in operating cost was offset in part by lower depletion
and decommissioning costs.

Gross Profit
Gross profit declined from $16.1 million in 2006 to $6.1 million in 2007.
The reduction principally stemmed from lower revenues and higher
operating costs from July 2007.

An insurance claim of $1.0 million was received for business interruption
caused by an operational accident in the year 2002. This has been
accounted for as other operating income in 2006 when insurance
proceeds were received.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses increased from $5.7 million in 2006 to
$6.9 million in 2007. The increase principally results from a higher share
based payment expense by $0.9 million for the stock options granted by
the Company to its directors and employees since 2005. During 2007,
costs include those relating to the move from AIM to the Main Market,
higher manpower costs with the addition of an additional executive
director and higher remuneration of executive directors.

Operating Profit (Loss)
As a result, the Company is reporting an operating loss of $0.8 million
compared with an operating profit of $11.4 million reported in 2006.

Gain on Sale of Investment
During December 2007, the Company sold 3,010,000 Ordinary Shares
of HOEC for a cash consideration of $12.5 million which was received
in January 2008. As a result, the Company recorded a gain on sale of
investment of $10.2 million. The after-tax gain amounted to $7.4 million
or $0.11 per share.

Investment and Other Income
Investment and other income declined from $2.3 million in 2006 to
$1.4 million in 2007. The decline was the result of reduced deposits and
lower interest rates in 2007 compared to 2006.

Finance Costs
Finance costs principally include the cost of providing bank guarantees
to the Government of India required in accordance with the provisions
of Production Sharing Contracts and are based on the agreed work
programme on blocks in India.

Taxation
Most of the provision for taxation is with respect to deferred income taxes
since the Company’s capital expenditure programme is sufficient to shield
the Company from a large portion of current tax liabilities. The group’s
Indian operations can avail the treaty benefit for the taxes suffered either
in India, the UK or the USA and the group could also benefit from prior year
capital losses by way of group relief for the capital gain made in sale of
investment in HOEC shares.

Net Profit
As a result, net profit declined from $10.2 million in 2006 to $8.3 million
in 2007.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Investment in HOEC

Cash flow from operating activities, before changes in non-cash working
capital, has declined from $14.5 million in 2006 to $2.6 million in 2007.
This results principally from lower revenues arising from lower production
volumes and higher profit oil to the government, and higher operating and
administrative costs.

The Company had an investment of approximately 8.5 per cent in shares
of HOEC, a publicly traded company in India. HOEC’s primary assets are a
21 per cent participating interest in PY-3 and a 100 per cent participating
interest in PY-1 (a gas discovery adjacent to PY-3 and ring-fenced by
the CY-OS/2 exploration licence). In October 2006, HOEC raised
approximately $33.0 million via a public rights issue in which Hardy
took up its pro rata entitlement at a cost of $2.8 million.

Changes in non-cash working capital principally reflect reduction in
debtors (excluding receivable from the sale of investment of $12.5 million
that was received in January 2008) as a result of lack of sales in the fourth
quarter of 2007 and a significant reduction in creditors. At the end of
2006, the Company was in the process of drilling a well on its CY-OS/2
block in which it has a 75 per cent participating interest.

Capital Expenditures
The Group’s capital expenditures amounted to $32.2 million during 2007,
compared to $51.6 million incurred during 2006. Capital expenditures
amounting to $21.9 million were incurred on the CY-OS/2 block with
the drilling of the successful Fan-A1 well. The Company expended
$4.2 million with respect to its interest in the GS-01 block with the drilling
of the B-1 discovery well. Expenditures on the D3 block amounted to
$4.6 million with the acquisition of 2,800 km2 of 3D seismic data and the
commencement of the drilling of the first well on 28 December 2007.
Approximately $1.0 million was incurred with respect to the Company’s
operations in Nigeria, principally with respect to the testing of a well in
Oza and ongoing expenditures. The drilling has resulted in discoveries
on the CY-OS/2, GS-01 and D3 blocks and the test on Oza has been
successful as well.
During 2006, Hardy incurred a significant amount of capital expenditures
on the CY-OS/2 block. As of 31 December 2006, Hardy had invested
$59.5 million for its share of the drilling and testing of the two wells which
included costs associated with the side track of the second well. In 2006,
Hardy also participated in the drilling of the A-1 well on the GS-01 block.
In the Krishna Godavari Basin on the east coast of India, 3,440 km2 of 3D
seismic data had been acquired over the D9 block during 2006, which
has now been processed and interpreted, and six prospects have been
identified for drilling.

In December 2007, the Company sold 3,010,000 shares of HOEC for a cash
consideration of $12.5 million. In early January 2008, HOEC completed a
rights offering with Hardy participating in the rights offering to the extent
of its pro rata share investing an additional $13.2 million. In January 2008,
the Company sold a further 1,971,411 shares for a cash consideration
of $8.1 million. At the present time, the Company has 6,114,745 shares
representing 4.7 per cent equity in HOEC. Based on the market value
of Rs.134 per share on 8 April 2008, this represents an investment value
of approximately $20.5 million.

Site Restoration Deposits
As of 31 December 2007, the Company had deposited $3.4 million for
site restoration of the PY-3 field. Of this amount, $2.8 million was placed
in 2006 with the remainder of $0.6 million placed in 2007.

Investment and Other Income
The Company has raised equity capital during the past three years.
Surplus cash is invested in short-term deposits generating investment
income on a regular basis. The level of such income was reduced from
$2.4 million in 2006 to $1.3 million due to reduction in deposit and lower
interest rates during 2007.

Finance Costs
Finance costs essentially represent the cost of bank guarantees provided
to the Government of India in connection with annual work programmes
in India.

Equity Financings
The Company undertook its initial public offering (IPO) of ordinary
shares on 7 June 2005 when its shares commenced trading on AIM.
The IPO was successfully completed at a placing price of 144 pence
per share, raising net proceeds of $20.8 million. In 2006 and 2007,
the Company also successfully completed an additional equity placement
of Ordinary Shares at 276 and 423 pence per share, raising additional
proceeds of $24.5 million and $40.2 million respectively.
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“The Company continues to
be an emerging company with
limited cash flows, and as a result,
has been principally relying upon
equity capital markets to build
and grow its asset base.”
Cash Position
As a result of the equity placing, the Company has been able to maintain
a significant amount of cash resources to fund its ongoing capital
expenditures and work programmes. Total cash increased from
$24.5 million at the end of 2006 to $31.2 million at the end of 2007.
The Company does not have any long-term debt.

Summary Balance Sheets
Hardy has continued to grow during 2007. Its non-current assets have
increased from $89.1 million at the end of 2006 to $121.4 million at the
end of 2007. This results largely from the capital expenditure programme
on exploration, principally on the drilling of wells on CY-OS/2 and GS-01
blocks as well as expenditure on seismic data acquisition.
Current assets represent the Group’s cash resources, together with
trade and other receivables and inventory. At the end of 2007, of the
$48.4 million of current assets, $31.2 million are represented by cash,
generated principally from the equity issue that was completed in June
2007. The accounts receivable at the end of 2007 included $12.5 million
from the sale of shares in HOEC which was received in January 2008.
Current liabilities are principally trade and other accounts payable.
The level of current liabilities fluctuates significantly depending upon
the timing of capital programmes. At the end of 2006, the Company was
in the process of drilling a well on its CY-OS/2 operated block, resulting
in a significant increase in payables. At 31 December 2007, the accounts
payable were reduced to more normalised levels.
Consequently, the Company has been successful in growing its net
asset base, which has increased from $91.4 million at the end of 2006 to
$144.0 million at the end of 2007. The increase in the carrying value of net
assets results from a combination of new equity placements, earnings that
have been retained in the business and the impact of valuation gains with
respect to its investment in HOEC.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Hardy has been funding its cash requirements from internally generated
cash flows and equity capital, principally from institutional investors,
in each of the years 2005, 2006 and 2007. The Company continues
to be an emerging company with limited cash flows and, as a result,
has been principally relying upon equity capital markets to build and
grow its asset base.
At 31 December 2007, the Company had cash resources of approximately
$31.2 million that were available to meet future capital expenditures.
In addition, the Company has realised proceeds (net of participation in the
rights offering) from the sale of a portion of its shareholdings in HOEC of
$7.4 million which has augmented its cash resources and working capital.
At 8 April 2008, the Company’s remaining investment in HOEC is worth
$20.5 million which, if required, can be made available to further augment
the Company’s cash resources and working capital during 2008.
The Company is presently considering farming-out a portion of its
participating interest of 75 per cent in the CY-OS/2 block. The Company’s
plans provide for the drilling of three appraisal wells on the block and
the farm-out is anticipated to contribute towards the Company’s
commitments with respect to its appraisal programme.
At the present time, the Company does not have any short-term or
long-term debt, nor does it presently have any bank facilities in
place. The Company presently produces from the PY-3 field in India.
The Company believes that it may be possible to secure financing on
the strength of this producing block in the future.
Based on present plans, the Company believes it has adequate financial
resources to fund its capital expenditure requirements for 2008.

Dividends
The Company has limited internally generated cash flows and has a
significant planned capital expenditure programme. In the circumstances,
the Board of Directors has chosen to reinvest cash flows and does not
recommend the payment of a dividend in the foreseeable future.

Dinesh Dattani
Finance Director
9 April 2008
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

“We contribute to
community and social
development by carrying
out our business activities
that provide energy
and infrastructure,
employment, skills
development and trade
to the areas in which
we operate.”
Sastry Karra
Chief Executive

The Group’s guiding principles are to be ethical
and act with integrity in the communities where
it works, and to respect cultural, national and
religious diversity.
Based on mutual respect and understanding, the Group has built enduring
relationships with the Indian Government, local authorities, partners and
business associates. Respecting the rich cultural diversity of the region,
the Group strives to protect the environment, taking into consideration
the unique requirements of the region and local working practices to
achieve optimum performance and timely delivery of projects. Corporate
social responsibility is a fundamental part of implementing the Group’s
corporate strategy and has both practical and ethical dimensions.
It includes managing business concerns, such as risk; enhancing reputation
in conjunction with investing in the community, and creating a place where
people feel good about working. The Group contributes to community and
social development by carrying out its business activities in such a manner
that provide energy and infrastructure, employment, skills development
and trade to the areas in which the Group operates.
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Health, Safety and Environment (‘HSE’)
The Board has tailored the Group’s HSE policy and management system
taking reference from world class operations to suit Indian conditions.
Safety, security and emergency procedures have been incorporated
into the weave of the Group’s operations. The central HSE Committee
and Environment Management Committees meet on a monthly basis to
assess and monitor compliance. The Group regularly undertakes internal
and external HSE audits, including pre-mobilisation HSE audit of rigs
and vessels. The Group undertakes periodical environmental marine
monitoring around production facilities and around the drilling locations.
Prompt compliance with applicable regulations by the Group has been
recognised by concerned agencies.
There were no lost time accidents (LTA) during the year. The PY-3 floating
production unit, Tahara, has operated for over six years without LTA.
All statutory requirements and certification for the operating
facilities at PY-3 field were maintained. Compliance to ministerial
and regulatory bodies such as DGH, MOEF, DGMS, ODAG, Coast Guard,
Navy and others are maintained by forwarding necessary reports as
required. Hardy participates in different meetings convened by these
agencies. Senior officials from these agencies also visited our offshore
facilities and appreciate our HSE management system.
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The CHSE Committee, the Company’s apex body on HSE activities, meet
every month and review the HSE plans, activities, accidents/incidents
pertaining to the month. Representatives from contractors are also invited
for these meetings. Regular HSE audits, drills and emergency exercises are
carried out in all facilities offshore.
The Environment Management Committee also meets once a month.
Annual marine environmental monitoring is carried out by consultants
in collaboration with Universities in the region.
The Board believes that prevention of accidents, ill health and protection
of the environment are essential to the efficient operation of its
business. The Board is committed to high standards of health, safety and
environmental protection. These aspects command equal prominence
with other business considerations in the decision making process.
Health, safety and environmental protection are responsibilities shared
by everyone working for the Group and the full support of all the Group’s
staff, corporate partners, and contractors is vital to the successful
implementation of this policy. The Board ensures that personnel are
aware of their delegated health, safety and environmental responsibilities
and are properly trained to undertake them diligently. The Board aims to
ensure that the necessary resources are provided to support this policy fully
and to seek continuous improvement in performance. High HSE standards
and constant grass roots level interaction give the Group the awareness
of local communities’ sensibilities and needs. With an awareness driving
the commitment, the Group provides its expertise and resources,
wherever required, to be a responsible Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

“The key challenges for
the Company in 2008 are
escalating exploration
and development costs,
the continued shortage of
offshore drilling equipment,
and retention and
recruitment of experienced
operational and
technical personnel.”
E. P. Mortimer
Chairman

E.P. Mortimer
Chairman
Mr Mortimer has diverse board level experience and over 30 years’
experience in the oil, gas and mining industries. Mr Mortimer held
various senior management roles through his 23 year career with
Exxon Corporation including Senior Vice President of Exxon Minerals,
New York, and Director and Vice President of Esso Argentina, Buenos
Aires. After Exxon, he was responsible for Corporate Development and
Coal at Newmont Mining Corporation in New York and was a Director
of Peabody Coal. He has acted as a consultant to Morgan Stanley and a
number of gold mining companies. Mr Mortimer was awarded a Rhodes
Scholarship in 1957 and read Politics, Philosophy and Economics at
Oxford. He also holds an MBA from the Harvard Business School.

Sastry Karra
Chief Executive
Mr Karra, one of the two founders, has over 40 years’ oil and gas industry
experience. He has held senior management roles at Occidental Petroleum
Corporation and Petronas as well as earlier experience with Gulf Canada,
Husky and Ashland. Mr Karra has held various consulting roles with the
Boston Consulting Group and Santa Fe Resources. He was a Senior lecturer
at the University of IBADAN from 1973 to 1976. Currently Mr Karra is the
Founder and Chairman of the Association of Oil and Gas Operators of India
and the Vice Chairman of the National Council of the Society of
Petroleum Engineers.
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Yogeshwar Sharma

Dinesh Dattani

Chief Operating Officer
Mr Sharma, one of the two founders, has over 30 years of international
oil and gas industry experience. He has previously worked with Energy
Resources Conservation Board and Pan Canadian in Calgary, Canada
and ARAMCO in Saudi Arabia. He has held senior technical positions
at Schlumberger and Elf International, where he helped found the Elf
Geoscience Research centre in London in 1991. Mr Sharma was an external
examiner at Heriot Watt University for 3 years. Mr. Sharma was also
responsible for the Group’s finance and administrative functions
until 1 July 2007.

Finance Director
Mr Dattani was appointed to the Board effective 1 July 2007. Mr Dattani
is a Chartered Accountant with over 28 years of industry and corporate
experience principally with international upstream oil and gas companies.
Prior to joining Hardy, Mr Dattani has served in senior finance capacities
with companies including Canoro Resources Ltd., Bow Valley Energy Ltd.,
Sherritt International Corporation, and Home Oil Company Ltd, all of which
are/were listed in either Canada and/or the United States.

Dr Carol Bell

Pradip Shah

Senior Non-Executive Director
Dr Carol Bell was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director
in December 2005. Dr Bell has over 20 years’ experience in the oil and
gas sector, most recently as the Managing Director of Chase Manhattan’s
Investment Bank with responsibility for oil and gas. Prior to that she was
the Global Head of J.P. Morgan’s Energy team in Equity Research. Dr Bell
began her career in corporate planning and development with RTZ Oil and
Gas and subsequently worked with Charterhouse Petroleum plc. She was
awarded a PhD in the archaeology of ancient trade in May 2005. Dr Bell
is a member of the Investment Advisory Committee of Gemini Oil and Gas
(an oil and gas royalty fund). On 24 October 2007, Dr Bell was elected as a
Non-Executive Director of Revus Energy ASA.

Non-Executive Director
Mr Shah is the founder and chairman of IndAsia Fund Advisors Private
Limited. He established Indocean Fund in October 1994 with affiliates
of Soros Fund Management and Chemical Venture Partners and founded
and managed CRISIL, India’s first and largest credit rating agency,
in 1988. Mr Shah also assisted in setting up Housing Development Finance
Company in 1977 and acted as consultant to USAID, the World Bank and
the Asian Development Bank. Mr Shah holds an MBA from the Harvard
Business School and is a Chartered Accountant and Cost Accountant.
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Risk Factors
As an oil and gas exploration and production company with current operations concentrated in India and Nigeria, Hardy is, by virtue of the nature
of its business and the countries in which it operates, subject to a variety of business risks. Outlined below is a description of the principal risk
factors that may affect the Group’s business. Such risk factors are not intended to be presented in any assumed order of priority. Any of the risks,
as well as the other risks and uncertainties discussed in this document, could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, the risks
set out below may not be exhaustive and additional risks and uncertainties, not presently known to the Company, or which the Company currently
deems immaterial, may arise or become material in the future.
In particular, the Company’s performance might be affected by changes in market and/or economic conditions and in legal, regulatory and tax
requirements. Additionally, there may be risks of which the Board is not aware or believes to be immaterial which may, in the future, adversely
affect the Group’s business.

General Exploration, Development and Production Risks
The Group’s strategy is predominantly driven by the exploration, exploitation, appraisal, development and production of its existing
assets. There are risks inherent in the exploration, exploitation, appraisal, development and production of oil and gas reserves and resources.
Whilst the rewards can be substantial, there is no guarantee that exploration will lead to further commercial discoveries. Exploration and
production activities by their nature involve significant risks. Risks such as delays in the construction and commissioning of drilling platforms
or other technical difficulties, lack of access to key infrastructure, adverse weather conditions, environmental hazards, industrial accidents,
occupational and health hazards, technical failures, labour disputes, unusual or unexpected geological formations, explosions and other acts of
God are inherent to the business. Although in many cases these represent insurable risks, the Group may also become subject to other hazards
(including pollution and oil seepage liability) against which it is not insured or is under insured. The occurrence of any of these incidents can result
in the Group’s current or future project target dates for drilling or production being delayed or interrupted, increased capital expenditure and
production costs and result in liability to the Contractor or Operator of the field.

Business Risk
oil and gas reserves or resources

Reserves and resource estimates have been prepared in accordance with the definitions of the SPE, the WPC, the AAPG and the SPEE, March 2007.
Estimating the quantity of reserves and resources and projecting future rates of production is a subjective process and has inherent uncertainties,
including factors beyond Hardy’s control.
Reserve and resource estimates are based on production, prices, costs, ownership, geophysical, geological and engineering data and other
information collated by Hardy. The estimates may prove to be incorrect after further drilling, testing and production. Forward-looking statements
contained herein concerning the Group’s reserves and resources definitions should not be unduly relied upon. Certain categories of reserves and
resources (such as Prospective and Contingent Resources) are inherently riskier than certain other categories (such as Proved Reserves).
If the assumptions upon which the estimates of Hardy’s oil and gas reserves or resources are based prove to be incorrect, Hardy may be unable to
recover and produce the estimated levels or quality of oil or gas set out in this document and Hardy’s business, prospects and financial results could
be materially and adversely affected.
Considering that all reserve estimates are subjective, each of the following items may differ materially from those assumed in estimating reserves:
•
•
•
•

the quantities and qualities that are ultimately recovered;
the production and operating costs incurred;
the amount and timing of additional exploration and future development expenditures; and
future oil and gas sales prices.

Many of the assumptions used in estimating reserves are beyond the Group’s control and may prove to be incorrect over time. Evaluations of
reserves necessarily involve multiple uncertainties. The accuracy of any reserves or resources evaluation depends on the quality of available
information, petroleum engineering and geological interpretation. Exploration drilling, interpretation, testing and production after the date of the
estimates may require substantial upward or downward revisions in Hardy’s reserves or resources data. Moreover, different reservoir engineers may
make varying estimates of reserves and cash flows based on the same available data. Actual production, revenues and expenditures with respect
to reserves and resources will vary from estimates and the variances may be material.
The probability that Prospective Resources will be discovered, or be economically recoverable, is considerably lower than for Proven, Probable and
Possible Reserves. Volumes associated with Prospective Resources should be considered highly speculative.
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Appraisal and development

Appraisal results for discoveries are also uncertain. Appraisal and development activities involving the drilling of wells across a field may be
unpredictable and not result in the outcome planned, targeted or predicted, as only by extensive testing can the properties of the entire field be
fully understood.
Production

The Group’s production operations involve risks common to its industry, including blowouts, oil spills, explosions, fires, equipment damage or
failure, natural disasters, geological uncertainties, early water breakthrough, unusual or unexpected rock formations and abnormal geological
pressures. In the event that any of these occur, environmental damage, injury to persons and loss of life, failure to produce oil or gas in commercial
quantities or an inability to fully produce discovered reserves could result. They can also put at risk some or all of Hardy’s licences enabling it
to explore and/or produce and incur fines or penalties as well as criminal sanctions against the Company and/or its officers. Consequently,
production delays and declines from normal field operating conditions may result in revenue and cash flow levels being adversely affected.
Exploration

Exploration activities are capital intensive and their successful outcome cannot be assured. Hardy undertakes exploration activities and incurs
significant costs with no guarantee that such expenditures will result in the discovery of commercially deliverable oil or gas. The Group is exploring
in geographic areas where environmental conditions are challenging and costs can be high. The cost of drilling, completing and operating wells is
often uncertain. As a result, the Group may incur cost overruns or may be required to curtail, delay or cancel drilling operations because of many
factors, including unexpected drilling conditions, pressure or irregularities in geological formations, equipment failures or accidents, adverse
weather conditions, compliance with environmental regulations, governmental requirements and shortages or delays in the availability of drilling
rigs and the delivery of equipment.
Exploration licences

Some licences held by the Group are solely exploration licences and as such they have a limited term which is divided into three stages.
Through each stage a portion of the licence will need to be relinquished. At the end of the term, if no commercial discoveries have been declared,
the Group will be obliged to relinquish the entire licensed area.
Work programme

Each of the Group’s India exploration licences requires minimum work programmes to be fulfilled within each phase of the licence. These may
include seismic surveys to be performed, wells to be drilled and other data acquisition. Failure to comply with such obligations, whether inadvertent
or otherwise, may lead to fines, penalties, restrictions and withdrawal of licences with consequent material adverse effects.
With respect to each of the Group’s Nigeria assets, minimum work programmes are mutually agreed between the joint venture and the Government
of Nigeria’s Department of Petroleum Resources. Failure to comply with such obligations, whether inadvertent or otherwise, may lead to fines,
penalties, restrictions and withdrawal of licences with consequent material adverse effects.
Interruptions in availability of exploration, production or supply infrastructure

The Group may suffer from delays or interruptions due to lack of availability of drilling rigs or construction of infrastructure, including pipelines,
storage tanks and other facilities, which may adversely impact Hardy’s operations and could lead to fines, penalties, criminal sanctions against
the Company and/or its officers or some or all of the Group’s licences being withdrawn. Delays in obtaining licences, permissions and approvals
required by the Group in the pursuance of its business objectives, including construction of pipelines, storage tanks or other facilities could likewise
have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business and the results of its operations.
Third party contractors and providers of capital equipment

The Group contracts or leases services and equipment from third-party providers and suppliers. Such equipment and services can be in short
supply and may not be readily available at the times and places required. In particular, the Group utilises specialised offshore drilling rigs and
various special-purpose vessels, of which there are a limited number relative to demand globally and more specifically in the India region.
In addition, the costs of third-party services and equipment have increased significantly over recent years and may continue to rise. This may,
therefore, have an adverse effect on Hardy’s business.
Climate

The Group operates in areas with extreme and seasonal weather conditions, including severe storms and monsoons. Each of these climate
conditions can adversely affect the Group’s operations.
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Risk Factors (continued)
Health, safety and the environment

The Group’s operations are subject to laws and regulations relating to the protection of human health and safety and the environment.
Failure, whether inadvertent or otherwise, by the Group to comply with applicable legal or regulatory requirements may give rise to significant
liabilities. The Group’s health, safety and environment policy is to observe local and national legal and regulatory requirements. The terms
of licences or permissions may include more stringent environmental and/or health and safety requirements. The obtaining of exploration,
development or production licences and permits may become more difficult or be subject to delay due to governmental, regional or local
environmental consultation, approvals or other considerations or requirements.
Current and future financing

The Group’s business necessarily involves significant capital expenditure. In addition, if the Group is required to provide further capital in pursuit
of additional opportunities, the Group may have a need to seek further external debt and future equity financing. There is no guarantee that such
additional funding, if required, will be available on acceptable terms at the relevant time. Furthermore, any additional debt financing may involve
restrictive covenants which may limit or affect the Group’s operating flexibility.
Uninsured risks

Substantial damages may be claimed against the Group due to events arising from the inherently hazardous nature of its operations and omissions
of sub-contractors. Any indemnities the Group may receive from such sub-contractors may be difficult to enforce if they lack adequate resources.
The Group considers that the extent of its insurance cover is reasonable based on the costs of cover and the risks associated with its business and
industry practice.
Foreign exchange risk

The proceeds of the Group’s domestic oil and gas sales in India are received in US dollars. The majority of the Group’s expenditure requirements
are in US dollars. The Group has general and administrative expenditure with respect to offices in India, United Kingdom and Nigeria, the Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risk against Indian Rupees, Nigerian Naira and UK Sterling. The Group has no current plans to enter into ongoing
hedging arrangements.
As the Company will be listed on the London Stock Exchange, any funds which may be raised through the issue of share capital will be denominated
in UK Sterling. However, the majority of the Group’s capital expenditure will be in US dollars.
Liquidity risk

The Group’s cash requirements and cash reserves are projected for the Group as a whole and for each country in which operations are conducted.
Whereas the Group currently has no debt, going forward the Group expects to meet these requirements through an appropriate mix of available
cash and assets, equity funding and debt financing. The Group seeks to minimise the impact that any debt financings may have on its balance sheet
by negotiating borrowings in matching currencies. Primarily, these are expected to be in US dollar denominations. The Group further mitigates
liquidity risk by maintaining an insurance programme to minimise exposure to insurable losses.
Commodity price risk

Historically, oil prices have fluctuated widely and are affected by numerous factors over which the Group has no control, including world production
levels, international economic trends, currency exchange rate fluctuations, expectations for inflation, speculative activity, consumption patterns
and global or regional political events.
Numerous factors will affect future gas prices, including domestic supply, domestic economic growth, consumption patterns and the locations
of gas fields, all of which will have an impact on the price realised but are still outside the control of the Group. In India, government approval is
required with respect to the pricing of natural gas sales contracts.
Speed of development

There are numerous factors which may affect the success of the Group’s business which are beyond the Group’s control, including local, national
and international economic, legal and political conditions. The Group’s business involves a high degree of risk which a combination of experience,
knowledge and careful evaluation may not overcome.
Procure appropriate drilling equipment

Oil and natural gas development and exploration activities are dependent on the availability of drilling and related equipment in the particular
areas where such activities will be conducted. Demand for limited equipment such as drilling rigs or access restrictions may affect the availability
of such equipment to the Group and may delay its development and exploration activities. In the areas in which the Group operates, there is
significant demand for drilling rigs and other equipment. Failure by the Group to secure necessary equipment could adversely affect the Group’s
business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Economic and political risk

The Group’s principal assets and operations are located in India where there may be risks over which it will have no, or limited, control. These may
include economic, social, or political instability or change, hyperinflation, currency non-convertibility or instability and changes in laws affecting
foreign ownership, government participation, taxation, working conditions, exchange control and custom duties as well as government control
over domestic production.
Regulatory approval

Following the announcement of various discoveries, exploitation of discovered oil and gas deposits will involve the need to obtain licence or
clearance from the relevant governmental authorities. In particular for the Group, future successful exploitation of deposits discovered in the
CY-OS/2, GS-01, D9 and D3 exploration licences will be dependent upon development plan approval being granted by the GOI.
Environmental factors

The Group’s operations are, and will be, subject to environmental regulation (with regular environmental impact assessments and evaluation of
operations required before any permits are granted to the Group) in all the jurisdictions in which it operates. Environmental regulations are likely
to evolve in a manner that will require stricter standards and enforcement measures being implemented, increases in fines and penalties for
non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and
their directors and employees.
Attraction and retention of key employees

The Group relies heavily on a small number of key individuals, in particular the Executive Directors, for the operation of its day-to-day activities
and implementation of its growth strategy. In addition, personal connections and relationships of its key management are important to the
conduct of its business. The Group’s business and operations may be negatively affected by the departure of any of these individuals, or any of
a number of other key employees. There can be no guarantee that the Group will be able to continue to attract and retain required employees.
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Group Reserves and Resources
(as at 30 June 2007)
Reserves
In 2007, GCA, an independent petroleum engineering consultancy, was commissioned to prepare estimates of the proved, probable and possible
oil, condensate and sales gas reserves and the Contingent Resources and Prospective Resources with Hardy’s areas.
The PY3 field in India is Hardy’s sole producing asset from which revenues are derived. As at 30 June 2007, estimated gross and net entitlement oil
Reserves were reported as follows:
Gross Oil Reserves MMbbl	Net Entitlement Reserves MMbbl
			Proved +	Proved, Probable
Hardy		Proved +	Proved, Probable
		Proved
Probable
+ Possible	Interest	Proved
Probable
+ Possible

PY-3

5.09

17.57

23.81

18%

0.82

2.69

3.44

Contingent Resources
The Company, through acquisition and exploration, has added to its resources categories additional hydrocarbons in both India and Nigeria.
These contingent resources are summarised below:

Gross and net natural gas Contingent Resources
		
Gross		Net Hardy
		Contingent		Contingent
		Resources
Hardy	Resources
		
Bcf	Interest (%)
Bcf

Licence			
GS-01, India			
Atala field, Nigeria			

2C		
91.5
10
359.0
20

2C
9.1
71.8

Total			

450.5		

80.9

Note:
The primary Contingent Resource volume reported here is the 2C, or ‘Best Estimate’, value.

Gross and net oil Contingent Resources
		
Gross		Net Hardy
		Contingent		Contingent
		Resources
Hardy	Resources
		MMbbl	Interest (%)	MMbbl

Licence			
CY-OS/2 (Ganesha-1 Deep Fan), India			
Oza field, Nigeria			
Atala field, Nigeria			

2C		
24.0
75
3.8
40
7.5
20

2C
18.0
1.5
1.5

Total			

35.3		

21.0

Notes:
1. The primary Contingent Resource volume reported here is the 2C, or ‘Best Estimate’, value.
2. In the event of a commercial discovery, ONGC has the option to back-into the CY-OS/2 licence at an interest of 30%.
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Prospective Resources
Hardy also has an extensive exploration portfolio in both India and Nigeria. Based on technical data and evaluation, the Company’s hydrocarbon
prospects are summarised below:
			
Gross		Net Hardy
			Prospective		Prospective
			Resources		Resources
			
Bcf
Hardy
Bcf
License	Prospect		
Best estimate*	Interest (%)
Best estimate*

GCoS (%)1

CY-OS/2

Shree Miocene Channel 1		
Shree Miocene Channel 2		

105.0
132.0

75
75

78.8
99.0

14
14

GS-01

B2		
B1/B2		
S1		
Prn 1		

103.0
66.0
190.0
54.0

10
10
10
10

10.3
6.6
19.0
5.4

30
30
30
10

D3

KGD-1		
KGD-2		
KGD-3		
KGD-11		
KGD-12		

71.0
113.0
66.0
143.0
18.0

10
10
10
10
10

7.1
11.3
6.6
14.3
1.8

25
20
20
20
15

* It is inappropriate to report summed-up Prospective Resource volumes or to otherwise focus upon those of other than the ‘Best Estimate’.
Notes:
1.	The Geologic Chance of Success (GCoS) reported here represents an indicative estimate of the probability that the drilling of this prospect would
result in a discovery which would warrant the re-categorisation of that volume as a Contingent Resource. The GCoS value for Contingent Resource is
100%. These GCoS percentage values have not been arithmetically applied within this assessment.
2. A Prospect is defined as ‘A project associated with a potential accumulation that is sufficiently well defined to represent a viable drilling target’.
3. In the event of a commercial discovery, ONGC has the option to back-into the CY-OS/2 licence at an interest of 30%.

Gross and net oil Prospective Resources – Prospects
			
Gross		Net Hardy
			Prospective		Prospective
			Resources		Resources
			MMBbl
Hardy	MMBbl
License	Prospect		
Best estimate*	Interest (%)
Best estimate*

CY-OS/2

Ganesha – 1 Top fan		
SE Four – Way Closure		
Shree – Cretaceous		

61.6
7.0
4.5

75
75
75

GCoS (%)1

46.2
5.3
3.4

25
25
14

* It is inappropriate to report summed-up Prospective Resource volumes or to otherwise focus upon those of other than the ‘Best Estimate’.
Notes:
1.	The Geologic Chance of Success (GCoS) reported here represents an indicative estimate of the probability that the drilling of this prospect would
result in a discovery which would warrant the re-categorisation of that volume as a Contingent Resource. The GCoS value for Contingent Resource is
100%. These GCoS percentage values have not been arithmetically applied within this assessment.
2. A Prospect is defined as ‘A project associated with a potential accumulation that is sufficiently well defined to represent a viable drilling target’.
3. In the event of a commercial discovery, ONGC has the option to back-into the CY-OS/2 licence at an interest of 30%.
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Group Reserves and Resources (continued)
Prospective Resources – Leads
In addition to the Prospects listed above, a number of ‘Leads’ have been identified in Hardy’s acreage. Most notable of these is Block D9 in the
Krishna Godavari deep water basin where three Leads have been identified from direct hydrocarbon indicators on seismic data. These Leads are at
different geological horizons and are assessed below:
			
Gross		Net Hardy
			Prospective		Prospective
			Resources		Resources
			
Bcf
Hardy
Bcf
License	Lead		
Best estimate*	Interest (%)
Best estimate*

D9	Upper Miocene		
Middle Miocene		
Oligocene		

13,000
19,000
13,000

10
10
10

GCoS (%)1

1,300
1,900
1,300

15
15
15

* It is inappropriate to report summed-up Prospective Resource volumes or to otherwise focus upon those of other than the ‘Best Estimate’.
Notes:
1.	The Geologic Chance of Success (GCoS) reported here represents an indicative estimate of the probability that the drilling of this prospect would
result in a discovery which would warrant the re-categorisation of that volume as a Contingent Resource. The GCoS value for Contingent Resource is
100%. These GCoS percentage values have not been arithmetically applied within this assessment.
2.	A ‘Lead’ is defined as a ‘Project associated with a potential accumulation that is currently poorly defined and requires more data acquisition and/or
evaluation in order to be classified as a Prospect’. As such it must be appreciated that a Lead carries a higher risk than a Prospect.

Classification & Categorization of Hydrocarbon volumes: Gaffney, Cline & Associates Ltd have used the Petroleum Resources Management
System published by the Society of Petroleum Engineers, World Petroleum Council, American Association of Petroleum Geologists and Society of
Petroleum Evaluation Engineers in March 2007 (SPE PRMS) as the basis for its classification and categorisation of hydrocarbon volumes.
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Corporate Governance Statement
Introduction
As a company incorporated in the Isle of Man, the Company is not subject to any corporate governance regime in its place of incorporation.
The directors, however, recognize the value of the Combined Code and support high standards of corporate governance.
Ordinary Shares of the Company were admitted and traded on AIM from 7 June 2005 until 20 February 2008 when such shares were de-listed
from AIM and admitted to the Official List and the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market for listed securities. Compliance with the Combined
Code was not required whilst the Company’s Ordinary Shares were admitted to trading on AIM. However, the Directors have always taken note
of its provisions and complied whenever it has been appropriate to do so for a small oil and gas company listed on AIM.
Following the Company’s admission to the Main Market, the Company is required to comply with the Combined Code pursuant to the Listing Rules.
On 26 March 2008, the Ordinary Shares were included in the FTSE 250 Index, as a result of which the Company will no longer be regarded as a
smaller company under the Combined Code for the financial year ending 31 December 2008. It is the directors’ intention that the Company will
comply with the Combined Code wherever possible.
Set out below are Hardy’s corporate governance practices for the financial year ending 31 December 2007. Disclosures below include matters
where Hardy has not fully complied with the Combined Code during 2007 together with its plans for compliance during 2008.

Board of Directors
Composition

In July 2007, the size of the Board of Directors was increased from five to six with the addition of the Finance Director. As a result, the Company
presently has three Executive Directors and three Non-Executive Directors. Each of the Executive Directors has extensive knowledge of the oil and
gas industry with combined experience of around 100 years. The Non-Executive Directors have either held or currently hold senior appointments
in oil and gas companies, companies with interests in the energy sector or have significant corporate and financial experience. The Non-Executive
Directors bring a broad range of business and commercial experience to the Board. The Board believes it is an effective board which is collectively
responsible for the success of the Company and that its composition has been suitable providing a balance of skill sets to run an effective
international junior oil and gas company.
As a result of the inclusion in the FTSE 250 index, the Board intends to expand its size from six to seven by the addition of one independent
Non-Executive Director during 2008.
At the time of the initial public offering, the Board of Directors comprised of Messrs Mortimer, Karra, Sharma and Shah. Dr Bell and Mr Dattani
joined the Board in December 2005 and July 2007 respectively. Mr Karra and Mr Shah were re-elected by shareholders at Annual General
Meetings on 28 June 2006 and 26 July 2007 respectively. The re-elections of Mr Mortimer and Dr Bell and the re-appointment of Mr Dattani
will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting of shareholders to be held on 29 May 2008 and brief biographical details of each of these
directors is set out on pages 20 and 21. The Board of Directors believes all of the Directors that are proposed for re-election or re-appointment have
served the Company well, have provided the Company with adequate advice, counsel and strategic guidance in moving the Company forward
and have effectively participated in the running of the Company. Although no formal performance appraisals of each of the directors has taken
place, the Chairman of the Board believes all of the nominees for re-election as Directors continue to be effective and have demonstrated their full
commitment to their roles as Directors. In addition the Board is satisfied with the performance of its Chairman.
Role and operations of the board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for the creation of long-term shareholder value and delivery of strong, sustainable operating and
financial performance. In order to accomplish its objectives, the Board directs and monitors the Group’s affairs on an ongoing basis. It provides
the Company with its overall strategic direction, ensures that the Company has the necessary financial and human resources in place, monitors
performance of the Company and its management on an ongoing basis and adheres to strong corporate governance practices.
Board meetings

During 2007, the Company held five Board meetings. In addition to the formal meetings of the Board, the Executive Directors maintain frequent
verbal and written contact with the Non-Executive Directors to discuss various issues affecting the Company and its business. In addition,
the Board executes a number of resolutions in writing to conduct Company business. Attendance by Directors at board meetings and all committee
meetings was 100% during 2007.
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
Information flow

The Chairman establishes the agenda for each Board meeting. Business set out on Board agendas are discussed at each meeting with sufficient
information to all the Directors to the extent appropriate. Board meeting agendas and supporting information are circulated to each Director
prior to each meeting. Directors are provided sufficient information on the basis of which to discuss relevant matters in order to make informed
decisions. Each agenda item is discussed with sufficient information on each matter to allow Board members to make an informed decision.
At each Board meeting, the Board reviews future cash flows and historical financial information with respect to the business and affairs of the
Company. In addition, the Directors are provided a status report on each of its exploration, development and production assets and a meaningful
dialogue takes place. The Board receives reports of its various committees – Audit, Remuneration and Nomination – and takes appropriate
action. Matters requiring resolutions are voted upon and approved if appropriate. Matters reserved specifically for Board approval are discussed
and evaluated prior to approval. Decisions requiring Board approval in between scheduled Board meetings are made by circulating supporting
information and approved unanimously in writing by the Directors.
Independent professional advice

All of the Directors are aware that independent professional advice is available to each Director in order to properly discharge his or her duties as a
Director. In addition, each Director and committee has access to the advice of the Company Secretary.
Matters specifically reserved by the board

A formal schedule of matters is reserved for consideration by the Board. The matters reserved include management structure including appointments
and remuneration, consideration of strategic policies and corporate direction, approval of annual and interim results, acquisitions and disposals,
material contracts, major capital expenditure projects and budgets, approval of capital structure, debt and equity financing, dividends, and other
matters. Subject to those reserved matters, the Board delegates authority for the management of the business primarily to the Executive Directors
and certain other matters are delegated to the Board committees, namely the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees.
Performance evaluation

Each Director’s position is subject to satisfactory performance of their responsibilities and is subject to re-appointment by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting. During 2007, no formal evaluation of the Board, its committees and Directors (including the Chairman) was carried
out although the performance of the Directors is discussed on an informal basis and at the Remuneration Committee. The Board fully intends
to undertake a performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and each of the Directors during 2008.
Chairman and chief executive

There is a clear division of duties and responsibilities between the Non-Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive of the Company. The Chairman
is responsible for leadership of the Board and ensures its effectiveness of its role and setting the agenda. The Chairman is also responsible to
ensure that the board is provided with accurate, timely, and clear information in relation to the Group and its business. The Chief Executive is
responsible for the running of the organization. The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are exercised by different individuals.
Paul Mortimer is the Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. In addition to Hardy, he is also a director of the following entities:
Paul Mortimer’s participation in Board and Board committee meetings has been 100% during 2007. In addition, he is in regular communication
with each of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors on an ongoing basis.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Alliance Energy, Inc.
Arts Alliance Digital Ventures III, Limited
Arts Alliance Labs, Inc.
Arts Alliance Screens Holdings Limited (resigned 16 April 2007)
African Highlands Limited
Baobab Limited
Digital Ventures II Limited
Digital Ventures Holdings Limited
Gadus America, Inc.
Gadus (PE) II, Inc.
Gemini Oil & Gas Limited

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Gemini Oil and Gas Management Limited
HCP (PE) I, Inc.
HCP (PE) II, Inc.
HCP (PE) III, Inc.
HCP (PE) IV, Inc.
HCP (PE) V, Inc.
Hoegh Capital Partners, Inc.
Hoegh Capital Partners Advisors (BVI), Inc.
Hoegh Capital Partners PE (US) Limited
Rift Valley Holdings Limited
Streamcourse Limited

Sastry Karra is the Chief Executive of the Company. Further details with respect to Mr Karra are set out on page 20.
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Non-Executive Directors

The Board has determined that Mr E.P. Mortimer (Chairman), Mr Pradip Shah and Dr Carol Bell are independent Non-Executive Directors.
The Board considers that independence is a matter of judgment and therefore it believes that the Non-Executive Directors should be free from
any business or other relationships that could materially interfere in the exercise of their independent judgment. It is the Board’s policy to provide
its Non-Executive Directors fair remuneration for the contribution they make with respect to the business and affairs of the Company and the
responsibilities they undertake in performing their duties as Non-Executive Directors.
Each of the independent Non-Executive Directors has been granted 260,333 options to purchase Ordinary Shares in the Company either on the
admission of Ordinary Shares of the Company on AIM in June 2005 or on appointment as a Non-Executive Director, if later.
The Board acknowledges that both Messrs Mortimer and Shah have shareholdings in the Company thus expressing their confidence in the
Company and its future.
Notwithstanding Non-Executive Directors’ interest in Ordinary Shares or options of the Company, the Board considers that their independence is
not prejudiced or compromised as a result of such positions.
The Executive Directors and Chairman of the Company visit major shareholders on a regular basis. These Directors are in regular dialogue with
the other two independent Non-Executive Directors and communicate to them the views of major shareholders about the Company. Dr Carol Bell
serves in the capacity as the Senior Non-Executive Director of the Company and is available to shareholders if they have concerns through the
normal channels of Chairman or Executive Directors or for which such contact is inappropriate.
At the present time, half of the Directors are Non-Executive and independent. The Combined Code requires half of the Board, excluding
the Chairman, to be independent. It is the intention of the Board to add one additional Non-Executive Director to the Board during 2008.
Following such appointment, the majority of the Directors will be independent Non-Executive Directors.
Board committees

The Board established Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees, each of which has terms of reference (approved by the Board) setting
out its authority and duties. In 2006, the Board considered various issues that would normally fall within the terms of reference of the various
Committees. All Non-Executive Directors are members of the Audit Committee. Both executive and Non-Executive Directors are members of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee although the majority of committee members are independent. The Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee meet as and when required, but at least once a year. The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year
to review, among other things, financial reporting with respect to interim and annual results. The Company’s auditors attend one of these meetings
to discuss any audit related issues and to review formally with committee members reports issued to the Company by the auditors. The Audit
Committee ensures that any non-audit services conform to the ethical standards for auditors issued by the UK Auditing Practices Board.
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two Non-Executive Directors – Mr E.P. Mortimer (Chairman) and Mr Pradip Shah – and one Executive
Director, Mr Sastry Karra. The Nomination Committee considers the structure, size and composition of the Board, retirements and appointments of
additional and replacement Directors, reviews succession plans for the Directors and makes recommendations to the Board on membership of the
Board, its committees and other matters within its remit.
There were two meetings of Nominating Committee held during 2007. Any new appointments to the Board are considered by the Nomination
Committee and made after Board approval. Following appointment, a new Director is given a detailed presentation of the activities of the
Company. If an appointment is made without using an external search agency or open advertisement, the entire Board selects a new Director.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration Committee comprises two Non-Executive Directors, Mr E.P. Mortimer and Mr Pradip Shah (appointed in December
2007) and one Executive Director, Mr Sastry Karra. Mr E.P. Mortimer is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Hardy’s Remuneration
Committee operates within the terms of reference made by the Board. There were two meetings of the Remuneration Committee during 2007.
The Remuneration Committee meets at least two times a year, considers remuneration policy and the employment terms and remuneration of
the Executive Directors and in future will also review the remuneration of senior management. The Remuneration Committee’s role is advisory
in nature and makes recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration packages for Executive Directors in order to attract, retain
and motivate high quality executives capable of achieving the Group’s objectives. The Remuneration Committee also reviews proposals for the
share option plans and other incentive plans, makes recommendations for the grant of awards under such plans as well as approving the terms
of any performance related pay schemes. None of the Directors participates in any discussion or votes on any proposal relating to his or her own
remuneration. The Board’s policy is to remunerate the Group’s senior executives fairly and in such a manner as to facilitate the recruitment,
retention and motivation of suitably qualified personnel. The Remuneration Committee, while considering remuneration packages of Hardy
executives will, in future, review the policies of comparable groups in the industry. As and when required, the Committee will take external
professional advice for determining the appropriate remuneration policy for Hardy executives.
The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined by the Chairman and the Executive Directors outside the framework of the
Remuneration Committee.
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is chaired by Dr Carol Bell and its other members are E. P. Mortimer and Mr Pradip Shah. All of the committee members
are independent Non-Executive Directors. Dr Carol Bell and Mr Pradip Shah both have extensive corporate, financing and banking experience.
The board is satisfied that the Audit Committee has recent and relevant financial experience. The Audit Committee is responsible for a wide
range of financial matters and meets at least two times a year. There were two meetings of the Audit Committee in 2007. It monitors the
controls that are in place to ensure the integrity of the financial information reported to shareholders. The Audit Committee also oversees
the relationship with the external auditor, reviews the scope and results of audits and provides a forum for reporting by the Group’s auditors.
The Company has a policy in place for the award of non-audit services provided by external auditors, which requires approval of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee ensures that the independence and objectivity of the external auditors is safeguarded when securing
non-audit services from the auditors. The Audit Committee also focuses on compliance with legal requirements, accounting standards and the
Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and ensures that an effective system of internal control and risk management systems
are maintained. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the annual report and accounts and the half-yearly reports remains
with the Board. Some or all Executive Directors attend meetings of the Audit Committee through invitation.

Shareholder Relations
Communication with shareholders is given high priority and there is regular dialogue with institutional investors, as well as general presentations
made at the time of the release of the annual and interim results. All Directors are kept aware of changes in major shareholders in the Company and
are available to meet with shareholders who have specific interests or concerns. The Company issues its results promptly to individual shareholders
and also publishes them on the Company’s website – www.hardyoil.com. Regular updates to record news in relation to the Company and the status
of its exploration and development programmes are included on the Company’s website. Shareholders and other interested parties can subscribe
to receive these news updates by email by registering on-line on the website free of charge.
The Chairman and all Executive Directors are available to meet with institutional shareholders to discuss any issues and gain an understanding
of the Company’s business, its strategies and governance. Dr Carol Bell serves in the capacity as the senior independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company and is available to shareholders if they have concerns that have not been resolved through the normal channels of Chairman or
Executive Directors or for which such contact is inappropriate.

Internal Controls
The Board of Directors reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls in line with the requirement of the Combined
Code. The internal control system is designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve its business objectives. This covers internal financial and
operational controls, compliances and risk management. The Board considers it necessary to comply with the provisions of Section 1 of the
Combined Code and to implement the guidance. The Company has necessary procedures in place for the year under review and up to the date
of approval of the annual report and accounts.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Company’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board
confirms the need for an ongoing process for identification, evaluation and management of significant risks faced by the Company.
A risk assessment for each project is carried out by a team consisting of the Executive Directors and senior management before making
any commitments. This team meets as and when required. Internal and external risks are continuously assessed, including exploration and
development risks, regulatory and compliance obligations under various production sharing contracts, economics including oil price,
interest rate and currency exposure, as well as natural catastrophes are continuously assessed.
The Board reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control through detailed consideration of the financial control procedures in place.
Given the size of the Company, the relative simplicity of the systems and the close involvement of senior management, the Board considers that
there is no current requirement for an internal audit function. The procedures that have been established to provide internal financial control
are considered appropriate for a company of its size and include controls over expenditure, regular reconciliations and management accounts.
Most of the assets are owned jointly with others, budgets and expenditures are rigorously reviewed and approvals as well project audits take place
with respect to capital and operating expenditures take place on a regular basis.
The Directors are responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities.
Four of the Company’s six blocks in India are held jointly with Reliance. During December 2007, the Board visited Reliance’s upstream headquarters
in Mumbai India where Reliance made presentations to the Board with respect to the jointly held assets. The Board has been favorably impressed
with Reliance’s technical capabilities with respect to the upstream oil and gas business in India.
All of the non Executive Directors have been granted share options in 2005. In order to comply with the Combined Code, the Board of Directors
intends to expand its size with the addition of one additional Non-Executive Director during 2008. Having regard to the nature of the Company’s
business, and to recruit and retain Non-Executive Directors of international caliber, the board believes it is important to grant options to
Non-Executive Directors. In the circumstances, and in accordance with the Combined Code, a resolution is being proposed for shareholders to
consider, and if appropriate, authorize the Board of Directors to grant share options to Non-Executive Directors at the next Annual General Meeting.

Going Concern
The Directors, having made due and careful enquiry, are of the opinion that the Company has adequate working capital to execute its operations
and that the Company has access to additional financing in the form of debt or equity or a combination thereof and therefore believe the going
concern basis to be appropriate in preparing its annual financial statements.

Share Options
The Directors believe that equity incentives are and will continue to be an important means of retaining, attracting and motivating directors,
senior management and key employees. Accordingly, in June 2005, the Board adopted the share option scheme entitling the Company to
award options to directors and employees. The Company’s share option scheme has been considered and approved by the shareholders in 2006.
Options are not granted at a discount to the market value. Under the scheme, options are exercisable between the first and tenth anniversaries
of the date of grant.
Options granted in June 2005 were subject to performance conditions whereby the share price of Hardy would need to rise by 20%, 45% and
70% of the price at which the Hardy IPO was undertaken. In first year of performance period, one third of the options will become exercisable at
or after 12 months following the date of grant. One third of the options will become exercisable at or after 24 months following the date of
grant. The remaining one third of the options will become exercisable at or after 36 months following the date of grant. All of such performance
conditions have been met.
In the future, it is intended to grant options under the share option scheme which will generally vest in three equal instalments over a three year
period but (due to the nature of the Group’s business) are not subject to any other performance conditions.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors of Hardy Oil and Gas plc present their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2007. Their reports will be presented before the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, scheduled to be held on 29 May 2008.

Business Review and Future Developments
Hardy is an upstream international oil and gas company whose assets are principally in India and to a lesser extent in Nigeria. Its portfolio includes
a blend of production, development, appraisal and exploration assets. Hardy’s goal is to evaluate and exploit its asset base with a view to creating
significant value for its shareholders on a per share basis. A full review of the Company’s activities during 2007 and plans for 2008 can be found
in the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s review, Review of Operations, Financial Review, Corporate Responsibility Statement, Directors’
Remuneration Report and the Risk Factors section of the Annual Report, which are incorporated herein by reference.

Results and Dividends
The Group is reporting a net profit of $8,315,978 for 2007 compared to $10,232,768 for 2006. The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for 2007.

Equity Financing
In May 2007, Hardy raised additional equity of $40.2 million (after expenses) by way of a placement of 4,964,540 Ordinary Shares of $0.01 each
at a price of £4.23 per share and 45,001 Ordinary Shares upon the exercise of options. Proceeds were added to the Company’s working capital and
cash resources that are available to meet ongoing oil and gas capital expenditure requirements.

Re-election and Re-appointment of Directors
At the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29 May 2008, Mr E. Paul Mortimer and Dr. Carol Bell will offer themselves for
re-election. In addition, Mr. Dinesh Dattani will be proposed to be re-appointed as a director.

Major Interests in Share Capital
At 31 December 2007 and at the date of this report, there were 62,262,535 Ordinary Shares issued and fully paid. Major interests in the share
capital of the Company in excess of 3%, as of 8 April 2008, are as follows:
				
%
Major Shareholder			Shareholding	Shareholding

Sastry Karra			
Limpopo Investments Limited			
Lloyds TSB Group plc			
Yogeshwar Sharma			
Standard Life Investments Ltd			
Grahame Whately			
Aegon Asset Management			
Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited			
Interstellar Enterprise Limited			

8,455,200
4,874,162
4,863,284
4,229,400
3,837,446
3,430,361
2,181,343
2,012,608
1,876,105

13.58
7.83
7.81
6.79
6.16
5.51
3.50
3.23
3.01

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union. Under such requirements, the Directors are required to prepare the Group and Parent Company
financial statements of Hardy Oil and Gas plc for the year ended 31 December 2007, which comprise the Group Income Statement, Group and
Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Changes
in Equity, and the related notes. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis.
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The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931 to 2004.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Directors’ Report and other information included in the annual report are prepared in accordance
with company law of the Isle of Man and are also responsible for ensuring that the annual report includes information required by the rules of the
London Stock Exchange.
In addition to the above, the Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and of the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud or other irregularities.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware. In making this confirmation,
the Directors have taken appropriate steps to make them aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are
aware of this information.

Re-appointment of Auditors
Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP has expressed their willingness to continue as auditors. In accordance with the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931 to
2004, a resolution re-appointing Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the next Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting – Resolutions
The resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 29 May 2008 are set out in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting.
Resolutions numbered 1 to 6 to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting are all ’ordinary business’ of the Annual General Meeting and will each
be proposed as an ordinary resolution. The resolutions deal with the following matters:
1. the receipt and adoption of the audited accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 together with the Directors’ report
and auditors’ report on those accounts;
2. the approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2007;
3. the re-election of Mr Edward Paul Mortimer as a Director who retires by rotation under article 87.1 of the Company’s articles of
association (and being eligible, offers himself for re-election);
4. the re-election of Dr Carol Bell as a director who retires by rotation under article 87.1 of the Company’s articles of association
(and being eligible, offers herself for re-election);
5. the re-appointment of Mr Dinesh Dattani who has been appointed since the date of notice of the last Annual General Meeting and is required
to be re-appointed pursuant to article 82.1 of the Company’s articles of association:
6. the re-appointment of Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP as auditors and providing authority to the Directors to fix their remuneration.
Biographical details of each of Mr Edward Paul Mortimer, Dr Carol Bell and Mr Dinesh Dattani are set out on pages 20 and 21. The Board of
Directors is satisfied that the performance of all of the Directors proposed for re-election or re-appointment continues to be effective and are also
satisfied as to their commitment to the role as Directors.
Mr Dattani has entered into a service agreement with the Company in respect of his engagement as Finance Director pursuant to which his
engagement is subject to termination upon 12 months’ notice by the Company and 90 days by Mr Dattani.
Mr Mortimer and Dr Bell have entered into engagement letters with the Company in respect of their appointments as Non-Executive Directors of
the Company. The appointments are subject to termination upon at least 3 months’ notice by either party.
Resolutions numbered 7 to 9 comprise ‘special business’ of the Annual General Meeting resolutions numbered 7 and 8 will be proposed as special
resolutions and resolution 9, will be proposed as an ordinary resolution.
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Resolution number 7 will be proposed as a special resolution to authorise the Company to purchase up to 9,333,154 of its own Ordinary Shares
in the market, representing 14.99% of the current issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company, at a price not less than the nominal value of the
Ordinary Shares and not more than 5% above the average of the middle market quotations of the Company’s Ordinary Shares derived from the
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days before the purchase is made. The authority would be given for the period ending
on the date of next year’s Annual General Meeting or 18 months after the passing of the resolution (whichever is the earlier) and it is presently
intended that a resolution for the renewal of such authority would be proposed at each succeeding Annual General Meeting. The Directors have no
present intention of making such purchases, but believe it is prudent to have this authority so as to be able to act at short notice should circumstances
warrant purchases. The authority would only be exercised if the Directors believe that to do so would be in the best interests of shareholders generally.
Options over an aggregate of 4,352,099 Ordinary Shares in the Company were outstanding at 8 April 2008 representing 6.99% of the Company’s
issued share capital at that date and which would represent 6.08% of the Company’s issued share capital if the proposed authority being sought at
the Annual General Meeting to buy back 9,333,154 was exercised in full.
Resolution number 8 will be proposed as a special resolution for approval with respect to the disapplication of the provisions of Article 5.1 of the
Articles of Association, thereby allowing the Company to issue such amount of Ordinary Shares for cash as is equal to five per cent of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the notice of meeting.
In accordance with the recommendations of the Combined Code, resolution number 9 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution providing for
approval of the grant of options under the Company’s 2005 Unapproved Share Option Scheme to any new Non-Executive Directors appointed
to the Board and also any current Non-Executive Directors. Such authority will expire at the date of next year’s Annual General Meeting. In order
to attract and retain Non-Executive Directors of international stature, the Board of Directors believes that it will be appropriate to provide a
remuneration package possibly including options.

Action to be taken in respect of the Annual General Meeting
Shareholders will find enclosed with this document a form of proxy for use at the Annual General Meeting. Whether or not you intend to be present
at the meeting, you are requested to complete and return the form of proxy so as to reach the Company’s registered office, 15-19 Athol Street,
Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB as soon as possible and in any event not later than 10.00 a.m. on 27 May 2008.

Recommendation
The Directors consider that all of the resolutions set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting are in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole and unanimously recommend that shareholders vote in favour of the resolutions. All of the Directors intend to vote in
favour of all resolutions in respect of their own beneficial shareholdings of, in aggregate 14,219,086 Ordinary Shares (representing 22.84% of the
issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company as of 8 April 2008).
This Annual Report (including the Notice of Annual General Meeting) is an important document and requires your immediate attention. If you
are in doubt as to the action you should be taking, please consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other professional
advisor immediately.
By order of the Board

E. P. Mortimer
Chairman
9 April 2008
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Consideration by the Directors of matters relating to Directors’ Remuneration
The Company has a Remuneration Committee comprising of Mr E.P. Mortimer (Non-Executive Chairman), Mr Sastry Karra (Executive Director and
Chief Executive) and Pradip Shah, an independent Non-Executive Director. Mr E.P. Mortimer is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. All of
the members of the Remuneration Committee have considered matters relating to Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Statement of Hardy’s Policy on Directors’ Remuneration
The Company has established levels of remuneration that are appropriate to attract, retain and motivate directors of the quality required to run its
business successfully. A significant proportion of Executive Directors’ remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual
performance so as to align their interests with those of shareholders and to incentivise them to perform at the highest levels.
The Remuneration Committee considers remuneration policy and the employment terms and remuneration of the Executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee’s role is advisory in nature and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors on the overall remuneration
packages for Executive Directors in order to attract, retain and motivate high quality executives capable of achieving Hardy’s objectives.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews proposals for the share option plans, makes recommendations for the grant of awards under such
plans as well as approving the terms of any performance related pay schemes. None of the Directors participate in any discussion or votes on any
proposal relating to his own remuneration. The policy of the Board of Directors is to remunerate Hardy’s Executive Directors fairly and in such
manner as to facilitate the recruitment, retention and motivation of suitably qualified personnel. The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors
is determined by the Chairman and the Executive Directors outside the framework of the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.
All of the Directors have been granted options to purchase Ordinary Shares of Hardy. Options granted following the initial public offering in June 2005
were subject to performance conditions based upon appreciation in the price of Ordinary Shares of the Company. All of the performance conditions
have been met. Subsequent options granted are subject to vesting provisions over a three year period, commencing from the anniversary of the date of
grant. All of the options granted are at the market prices based on the five day average price prior to the date of grant. The Directors believe that the
best indicator of performance of a company and its directors is its share price performance. The Directors further believe that the grant of options and
the associated vesting provisions provides an alignment of the interests of the Directors and shareholders. No options were granted to Non-Executive
Directors during 2006 or 2007.
All of the service contracts with Directors are on an evergreen basis, subject to termination provisions. Under the terms of the service agreements
of all Executive Directors, the Company may in lieu of notice terminate the executive’s employment with immediate effect in such instance must
pay the executive: a lump sum equal to basic salary at the rate prevailing at the date of termination for a period of 12 months; and a bonus to the
extent earned and awarded by the Company at the date of termination in lieu of the notice period. In addition, in the event of a change of control,
the Company may be entitled to terminate the executive’s employment on payment of 12 months’ salary together with all benefits and bonuses.
The appointments of Executive Directors are subject to termination of 12 months or less by either party. The appointments of Non-Executive
Directors are subject to termination upon at least 3 months’ notice.
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Directors’ Beneficial Interest in Shares
The directors who held office during the 2007 and 2006 and their beneficial interests in the Ordinary Shares of the Company are as follows:
			As at 31 December
Name of director
Position		
2007
2006

E. P. Mortimer
Sastry Karra
Yogeshwar Sharma
Pradip Shah

Non Executive Chairman		
Chief Executive		
Chief Operating Officer		
Executive Director		

870,051
8,455,200
4,229,400
664,435

812,500
9,255,200
4,629,400
609,435

Other than above, the directors do not have beneficial interest in the Ordinary Shares or any other securities of the Company, other than stock options.

Service Contracts
Sastry Karra entered into parallel service agreements with the Company and HEPI (with the payment of salary and other individual terms being
governed by the agreement with HEPI) dated 2 June 2005. His appointment is subject to termination upon 6 months’ notice by either party.
The agreement provides for an annual salary of US$180,000, membership of a private medical scheme, permanent health insurance, life assurance
cover and pension contributions of 4% of his salary. Mr Karra’s salary was increased to £200,000 per annum, effective 1 July 2007.
Yogeshwar Sharma entered into parallel services agreements with the Company and HEPI (with the payment of salary and other individual terms
being governed by the agreement with HEPI) dated 2 June 2005. His appointment is subject to termination upon 6 months’ notice by either party.
The agreement provides for an annual salary of US$180,000, the use of a company car, membership of a private medical scheme, permanent
health insurance, life assurance cover and pension contributions of 4% of his salary. Mr Sharma’s salary was increased to £200,000 per annum,
effective 1 July 2007.
Dinesh Dattani entered into a service agreement with the Company with an effective date of 1 July 2007, subject to termination upon 12 months
notice by the Company and 90 days by Mr Dattani. The agreement provides for an annual salary of £191,250, membership of a private medical
scheme, life assurance cover, travel costs and professional dues.
The services of Paul Mortimer, Pradip Shah and Carol Bell as Non-Executive Directors are provided under the terms of agreements with the
Company and each Non-Executive Director dated 2 June 2005 (with respect to Messrs Mortimer and Shah) and 16 December 2005 with
respect to Dr Bell). The appointments are subject to termination upon at least three months’ notice and an initial fee of US$30,000 per annum.
Effective 20 February 2008, the date Ordinary Shares of Hardy were listed on the Official List of the London Stock Exchange, the annual fees for
Mr. Mortimer, the Non-Executive Chairman, increased to £48,000 per annum. In addition, the annual fees for other Non-Executive Directors,
Mr Shah and Dr Bell increased to £36,000 per annum.
Under the terms of Executive Directors’ service agreements, the Company may, terminate the executive’s employment with immediate effect.
In such instance the Company must pay the executive a lump sum equal to basic salary at the rate prevailing at the date of termination for a period
of 12 months, and a bonus to the extent earned and awarded by the Company at the date of termination in lieu of the notice period. In addition,
in the event of a change of control, the Company may be entitled to terminate the executive’s employment on payment of 12 months’ salary
together with all benefits and bonuses. In addition, Mr Dattani is entitled to travel costs and an allowance of two months’ salary for relocation.
Save as detailed above, there are no other service contracts between any of the Directors and the Company providing for benefit upon termination
of employment.
Under the Articles of Association of the Company, one-third of the Directors, or if their number is not a multiple of 3, the number nearest to but not
exceeding one third are obliged to retire by rotation at each Annual General Meeting. The retiring directors may be subject to re-election at the
Annual General Meeting.
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Information Subject to Audit
Directors’ Emoluments and Compensation
Set out below are the emoluments of the Directors for the years indicated:
				Year ended
				 31 December
US Dollars	Year ended 31 December 2007			
2006

	Salaries/Fees

Bonuses

Benefits	Total	Total

Paul Mortimer
Sastry Karra
Yogeshwar Sharma
Dinesh Dattani (1)
Carol Bell (2)
Pradip Shah

30,000
292,657
308,530
193,052
34,006
30,000

–		
–
66,970
–
20,592
–
79,778
–
–
–
–

30,000
359,627
329,122
272,830
34,006
30,000

30,000
334,450
234,682
–
30,000
30,000

Total

888,245

–

167,340

1,055,585

659,132

Notes:
(1) Dinesh Dattani was appointed finance director effective 1 July 2007.
(2) Includes a consulting fee of $4,006.
All of the Directors’ remuneration stated above is without any performance conditions. No bonuses were paid to any of the Executive Directors during 2007.

Share Options
The Company has adopted a share option scheme which allows it to grant options to subscribe for Ordinary Shares at the discretion of the Board
of Directors or the Remuneration Committee to Directors and selected employees of Hardy and its subsidiary companies. The plan has not been
approved by UK tax authorities.
Set out below is certain information pertaining to share options that have been granted to the Directors of Hardy:

Director

# of Options
Beginning
of 2007

# of Options
# of Options		
# of Options		
Exercise
Granted	At end	Date of	Vested at end
Expiry
per Share
during 2007
of 2007
Grant
of 2007	Date	Price (£)

Paul Mortimer

260,233

–

260,233

7 June 2005

173,489

6 June 2015

1.44

Sastry Karra

780,000
–

–
400,000

780,700
400,000

7 June 2005
2 July 2007

520,467
–

6 June 2015
1 July 2017

1.44
4.31

Yogeshwar Sharma

780,700
–

–
300,000

780,700
300,000

7 June 2005
2 July 2007

520,467
–

6 June 2015
1 July 2017

1.44
4.31
4.31

Dinesh Dattani

–

400,000

400,000

2 July 2007

–

1 July 2017

Carol Bell

260,333

–

260,333

22 Dec 2005

173,489

21 Dec 2015

2.76

Pradip Shah

260,333

–

260,333

7 June 2005

173,489

6 June 2015

1.44

No options were granted to any Non-Executive Directors during 2007.
No price was paid for any grant of options by the Directors to the Company.
There were no variations made during the year in the terms and conditions with respect to any outstanding share options granted by the Company.
Options granted on 7 June 2005 are subject to performance criteria based upon appreciation in the market value of Ordinary Shares of the
Company. All of such performance conditions have been met. All subsequent options granted during the period 2005 – 2007 are subject to vesting
provisions whereby one third of the options granted vest on each of the three anniversaries from the date of grant. The Directors believe that the
best indicator of performance of a company and its directors is its share price performance. The Directors further believe that the grant of options
and the associated vesting provisions provides an alignment of the interests of the directors and shareholders.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
No share options were exercised during 2007 by any of the Directors of the Company.
On 31 December 2007, the market price of an Ordinary Share of Hardy was £4.58 per share. The highest and lowest market price of an Ordinary
Share of Hardy during 2007 was £4.89 and £2.90 respectively.

Other Matters
Mr Karra and Mr Dattani are directors of other companies all of which are private. They are entitled to retain earnings from such directorships;
however, no directors’ fees were paid to them during 2007. Mr Dattani has stock options from a private company.
The Company does not have any long-term incentive schemes in place for any of the Directors.
The Company does not have any pension plans for any of the Directors.
The Company has not paid out any excess retirement benefits to any Directors or past Directors.
The Company has not paid any compensation to past Directors.
The Company has any not paid any sums to third parties with respect to any services of Directors.
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

E. P. Mortimer
Chairman
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Shareholders of Hardy Oil and Gas plc
We have audited the group and parent company financial statements
(the ‘financial statements’) of Hardy Oil and Gas plc for the year ended
31 December 2007. These comprise the Group Income Statement,
Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent
Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Company
Statement of Changes in Equity, and the related notes. These financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set
out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 15 of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies Acts
1931 to 2004 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4
of the IAS Regulation.
We also report to you whether, in our opinion, the information given
in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.
The information in the Directors’ Report includes that specific
information presented in the Review of Operations and the Financial
Review that is cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors’ Report.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified
by law, regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions,
is not disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the
Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined
Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider
whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. This other
information comprises only the Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s
Review, Review of Operations, Financial Review, Corporate Social
Responsiblity, Risk Factors, Group Reserves and Resources, Directors’
Report, the unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report,
and the Corporate Governance Statement. We consider the implications
for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements
or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
Directors in the preparation of the financial statements and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs
as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended;
• the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931 to 2004, of the
state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2007;
• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931 to 2004 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and
• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
financial statements.

Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditors
London
9 April 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007
				
2007
2006
			Notes	US$	US$

Revenue		
2
			
Cost of sales			
Production costs			
Depletion			
Decommissioning charge			

11,829,554

21,316,935

(4,216,138)
(1,344,101)
(217,397)

(2,999,086)
(1,887,911)
(304,899)

Gross profit			
Other operating income		
3
Administrative expenses			

6,051,918
–
(6,865,187)

16,125,039
1,000,000
(5,700,416)

			
Operating (loss)/profit 			
4
Gain on sale of investment		
Interest and investment income		
10
Finance costs		
11

(813,269)
10,243,729
1,381,121
(180,400)

11,424,623
–
2,288,954
(275,428)

10,631,181

13,438,149

(2,315,203)

(3,205,381)

			
Profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Parent Company			

8,315,978

10,232,768

			
Earnings per share			
13
Basic		
Diluted		
13

0.14
0.13

0.18
0.17

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation			
			
12
Tax on profit on ordinary activities		
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2007
		
Group
Group	Company	Company
		
2007
2006
2007
2006
	Notes	US$	US$	US$	US$

Beginning of year 		
Profit for the year		
Unrealised valuation gain/(loss) 		
Deferred tax asset/(liability) on unrealised valuation gain or loss		

91,401,836
8,315,978
3,514,603
(966,780)

10,232,768
(6,910,257)
1,934,872

58,466,526
8,194,489
3,514,603
(966,780)

37,943,782
283,578
(6,910,257)
1,934,872

5,257,383
24,527,092
687,459

10,742,312
40,168,691
1,561,497

(4,691,807)
24,527,092
687,459

				
End of year		 143,995,825
91,401,836

110,939,026

58,466,526

Total recognised gains and (losses)		
New shares issued		
25
Share based payments

10,863,801
40,168,691
1,561,497

60,929,902
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2007
Group
Group 	Company	Company
		
2007
2006
2007
2006
	Notes	US$	US$	US$	US$

Assets					
Non-current assets				
Intangible assets – exploration
14
99,284,534
67,216,281
–
–
Intangible assets – others
15
246,572
217,198
21,835
65,582
Property, plant and equipment
16
3,375,463
5,064,070
140,927
177,859
Investments
17
15,092,311
13,836,910
74,974,386
40,491,141
Site restoration deposit
23
3,369,820
2,784,660
–
–
75,137,148

40,734,582

				
Current assets				
19
2,703,915
2,729,764
–
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
20
14,525,440
4,637,062
12,689,331
Cash and cash equivalents		
31,157,048
24,490,939
28,471,133

–
251,931
19,318,159

		

121,368,700

89,119,119

		 48,386,403
31,857,765
41,160,464
					
Total assets		 169,755,103 120,976,884
116,297,612

19,570,090
60,304,672

				
Liabilities					
Current liabilities				
22
(9,857,909) (16,809,807)
(567,396)
(153,782)
Trade and other payables
				
Non-current liabilities				
23
(4,500,000)
(4,500,000)
–
Provision for decommissioning
Provision for deferred tax		 (11,401,369)
(8,265,241)
(4,791,190)
		 (15,901,369)
(12,765,241)
(4,791,190)
				
Total liabilities		 (25,759,278) (29,575,048)
(5,358,586)

–
(1,684,364)
(1,684,364)
(1,838,146)

				
Net assets		 143,995,825
91,401,836 110,939,026

58,466,526

				
Equity				
24
622,625
572,530
622,625
Called-up share capital
Share premium
25
93,101,579
52,982,983
93,101,579
Shares to be issued
25
2,501,590
940,093
2,501,590
Other reserves
25
8,912,532
6,364,709
8,912,532
Retained earnings
25
38,857,499
30,541,521
5,800,700

572,530
52,982,983
940,093
6,364,709
(2,393,789)

Total equity		

58,466,526

143,995,825

91,401,836

110,939,026
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Consolidated Statement of Cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2007
Group
Group	Company	Company
		
2007
2006
2007
2006
	Notes	US$	US$	US$	US$

Operating activities					
Cash flow from operating activities
6
(1,844,914)
23,942,864
(1,730,151)
Taxation paid		
63,235
(143,280)
–

(2,318,889)
–

Net cash (used in) from operating activities		
(1,781,679)
23,799,584
(1,730,151)
					
Investing activities					
Expenditure on intangible assets – exploration		 (32,068,253) (51,034,004)
–
Expenditure of property, plant and equipment		
(147,297)
(148,215)
–
Purchase of intangible fixed assets – others		
5,856
(176,972)
–
Purchase of other fixed assets		
(38,753)
(247,992)
(11,731)
Sale/(purchase) of investment		
–
(2,778,914)
–
Site restoration deposit		
(585,160)
(2,784,660)
–

(2,318,889)

Net cash (used in) investing activities		 (32,833,607)
(57,170,757)
(11,731)
					
Financing activities					
Interest and investment income		
1,293,104
2,376,072
3,726,459
Finance costs		
(180,400)
(275,428)
–
Inter corporate loan		
–
– (33,000,294)
Issue of shares		
40,168,691
24,527,092
40,168,691

(2,831,352)

Net cash from financing activities		
41,281,395
26,627,736
10,894,856
					
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		
6,666,109
(6,743,437)
9,152,974
					
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		
24,490,939
31,234,376
19,318,159
					
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year		

31,157,048

24,490,939

28,471,133

–
–
(4,500)
(47,938)
(2,778,914)
–

2,075,877
–
(21,494,196)
24,527,092
5,108,773
(41,468)
19,359,627
19,318,159
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007
1.	Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies have been applied in preparation of consolidated financial statements of Hardy Oil and Gas plc
(‘Hardy’ or the ‘Group’).

a)	Accounting standards
Hardy prepares its financial statements in accordance with applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as adopted by the European Union.
Hardy adopted IFRS for the first time in the financial year which ended on 31 December 2007. The adoption of these standards and interpretations
has resulted in changes to the Hardy’s accounting policies. The effect of the adoption of IFRS on the results for the year ended 31 December 2006,
the comparative year, are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:
IFRS 2 (amendment) Share based payments
IFRS 3 (revised) Consolidated financial statements
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRIC 12 Service concession arrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes
IFRIC 14 IAS19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction
IAS 1 (revised) Presentation of financial statements
IAS 23 (revised) Borrowing costs
IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements
The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these interpretations in future reporting periods will have a material impact on the
Group’s results.

b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the results of Hardy Oil and Gas plc and its subsidiary undertakings. The consolidated income
statement and consolidated cash flow statements include the results and cash flows of subsidiary undertakings up to the date of disposal.
The Group conducts the majority of its exploration, development and production through unincorporated joint arrangements with other companies.
The consolidated financial statements reflect the Group’s share of production and costs attributable to its participating interests under the
proportional consolidation method.
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 3 of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982 not to publish its individual
income statement and related notes. The Company’s profit for the year was US$8,194,489 (2006: US$283,578).

c)	Revenue and other income
Revenue represents the sale value of the Group’s share of oil which excludes the profit oil sold and paid to the Government as a part of profit sharing
in the year, tariff, and income from technical services to third parties if any. Revenues are recognised when crude oil has been lifted and title has
been passed to the buyer or when services are rendered.
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d) Oil and gas assets
i)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Hardy follows the full cost method of accounting for its oil and gas assets. Under this method, all expenditures incurred in connection with and
directly attributable to the acquisition, exploration and appraisal having regard to the requirements of IFRS 6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation
of Mineral Resources’ are accumulated and capitalised in two geographical cost pools, which are not larger than a segment: India and Nigeria.
The capitalised exploration and evaluation costs are classified as Intangible assets – exploration, which includes the licence acquisition,
exploration and appraisal costs relating either to unevaluated properties or properties awaiting further evaluation, but do not include costs
incurred prior to having obtained legal right to explore an area, which are expensed directly to the income statement as they are incurred.
Intangible exploration and evaluation cost relating to each licence or block remain capitalised pending a determination of whether or not
commercial reserves exists. Commercial reserves are defined as proven and probable on a net entitlement basis.
When a decision to develop these properties is taken or there is evidence of impairment, the costs are transferred to the cost pools within
development/producing assets, when the commercial reserves attributable to the underlying asset have been established.
ii) Oil and gas development and producing assets

Development and production assets are accumulated on a field by field basis. These comprise of the cost of developing commercial reserves
discovered, putting them on production and the exploration and evaluation costs transferred from intangible exploration and evaluation assets,
as stated in policy above. In addition, interest payable and exchange differences incurred on borrowings directly attributable to development
projects, if any, and assets in the production phase, as well as cost of recognising provision for future restoration and decommissioning,
are capitalised.
iii)	Decommissioning

At the end of the producing life of a field, costs are incurred in removing, decommissioning facilities, plugging and abandoning wells.
Decommissioning costs are estimated and stated at an amount representing the costs which would be incurred should decommissioning occur
at the balance sheet date and the estimates are reassessed each year. The provision is assessed at prices ruling at the balance sheet date and,
accordingly, it is not appropriate to discount this provision. The decommissioning asset is included within the tangible fixed assets with the cost of
the related assets installed and are adjusted for any revision to the decommissioning costs and the provision thereof. The amortisation of the asset,
calculated on a unit of production basis based on proved and probable reserves, is shown as ‘Decommissioning charge’ in the income statement.
iv)	Disposal of assets

Proceeds from any disposal of assets are credited against the specific tangible or intangible capitalised costs included in the relevant cost pool and
any loss or gain on disposal is recognised in the income statement. Gain or loss arising on disposal of a subsidiary is recorded in the income statement.

e)	Depletion and impairment
i)	Depletion

The net book values of the producing assets are depreciated on a field by field basis using the unit of production method, based on proved and
probable reserves taking into consideration future development expenditures necessary to bring the reserves into production. Hardy periodically
obtains an independent third party assessment of reserves which is used as a basis for computing depletion.
ii)	Impairment

Exploration assets are reviewed regularly for indications of impairment, if any, where circumstances indicate that the carrying value might not be
recoverable. In such circumstances, if the exploration asset has a corresponding development/producing cost pool, then the exploration costs are
transferred to the cost pool and depleted on unit of production. In cases where no such development/producing cost pool exists, the impairment of
exploration costs is recognised in the income statement. Impairment reviews on development/producing oil and gas assets for each field is carried
out each year by comparing the net book value of the cost pool with the associated discounted future cash flows. If there is any impairment in a
field representing a material component of the cost pool, an impairment test is carried out for the cost pool as a whole. If the net book value of the
cost pool is higher, then the difference is recognised in the income statement as impairment.
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1.	Accounting Policies (continued)
f)	Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas assets are measured at cost and depreciated over their expected useful economic lives as follows:
			
	Depreciation
			Annual Rate (%)	Method

Leasehold improvements			over lease period
Furniture and fixtures			
20%
Information technology and computers			
33%
Other equipment			
20%

Straight line
Straight line
Straight line
Straight line

g)	Intangible assets
Intangible assets other than oil and gas assets are measured at cost and depreciated over their expected useful economic lives as follows:
				Depreciation
			Annual Rate (%)	Method

Computer software			

33 %

Straight line

h)	Investments
Investments in publicly traded securities are treated as available-for-sale and are recognised at fair values based upon the quoted market prices
on the balance sheet date. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised under equity – other reserves. On disposal of an investment, the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement. Investments in subsidiary companies are carried at cost in the financial statements of the
Parent Company.

i)	Inventory
Inventory of crude oil is valued at lower of average cost and market. Average cost is determined based on actual production cost for the year.
Inventories of drilling stores are accounted at cost including taxes duties and freight. Provision is made for obsolete or defective items where
appropriate, based on technical evaluation.

j)	Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised at fair value on the Group’s balance sheet based on the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by necessary provisions for estimated irrecoverable amounts.
Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

k) Equity
Equity instruments issued by Hardy and the Group are recorded at net proceeds after direct issue costs.

l)	Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax.
The current tax is based on the taxable profit of the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement as it excludes
certain items of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in years other than the current year and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The current tax liability is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.
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Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences except in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investment in subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint ventures where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is possible that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, where
transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more or a right to pay less or to receive more tax.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

m)	Foreign currencies
Hardy maintains its accounts and the accounts of its subsidiary undertakings in US dollars. Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the
exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the year end, all foreign currency assets are restated at the average of the buying and
selling exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising out of actual payments/realisations and from the year
end restatement are reflected in the income statement.
Rates of exchanges are as follows:
			
			

31 December
2007

31 December
2006

£ to US$			
US$ to Indian Rupees			

1.9828
39.420

1.9658
44.1700

n) Estimation uncertainty
(i)	Decommissioning

The liability for decommissioning is based on the best estimate of the costs of decommissioning that will arise at some point in the future.
Significant changes in costs or technological advancement could result in a material change to this provision.
(ii)	Depletion

Depletion calculations are based on the best estimate of commercial reserves existing as at the balance sheet date. The determination of
commercial reserves is based on assumptions which include those relating to the future price of crude oil, capital expenditure plans and the costs of
production. Any changes in these assumptions could result in a material change in the depletion charge or the carrying value of associated assets.

o)	Leasing commitments
Rental charges or charter hire charges payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement as part of production cost over the
lease term.

p)	Share based payments
Hardy issues share options to directors and employees, which are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value of the equity settled
options determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period based on the actual number of shares vested in
the accounting period. In performing the valuation of these options, only conditions other than the market conditions are taken into account.
Fair value is derived by use of the binomial model. The expected life used in the model is based on estimates of the management considering
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
2.	Revenue and other income
		2007
2006
		US$	US$
	India	UK	India	UK

Oil sales
Profit oil to government
Other income

15,531,311
(4,268,322)
–

–
–
566,565

24,731,952
(4,714,128)
154

–
–
1,298,957

11,262,989

566,565

20,017,978

1,298,957

The Directors do not consider there to be more than one class of business or geographic segment for the purposes of reporting. The Group is
engaged in one business activity, the production of and exploration for oil and gas. The revenue, segment result and assets of the geographic
segments, other than India, are nil or less than 10% of the total for all segments. Other income relates to technical services to third parties,
overhead recovery from joint venture operations and miscellaneous receipts if any. Revenue arises from sale of oil produced from the contract
area CY-OS-90/1-India and the revenue by destination is not materially different from the revenue by origin.

3. Other operating income
Other operating income relates to an insurance claim on business interruption received in 2006. The claim relates to an accident which occurred
in November 2002. This income has been accounted for based on the acceptance of the claim by the underwriters and receipt of payment.

4. Gain on sale of investments
During the year 3,010,000 equity shares of Hindustan Oil Exploration Company (‘HOEC’) were sold for a consideration of US$12,502,931, which
has resulted in a realised gain of US$10,243,729 that has been reflected in the consolidated income statement.

5. Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging:
			
2007
2006
			US$	US$

Depletion charge of property, plant and equipment – producing			
Decommissioning charge of property, plant and equipment – producing			
Depreciation charge of property, plant and equipment – others			
Movement in inventory of oil			
Operating lease costs
– Plant and machinery		
– Land and buildings			
External auditors’ remuneration – Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the annual audit		
– Interim review and review of IFRS transition 			
– Report for main listing			
Exchange (gain) 			

1,344,101
217,397
277,929
(977,536)
3,880,183
465,516
65,432
38,665
246,729
(302,986)

1,887,911
304,899
249,788
25,886
1,803,478
292,881
64,871
1,401
–
(99,952)

The Group has a policy in place for the award of non audit services to be provided by the auditors, which requires approval of the Audit Committee.
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6.	Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows
Group		Company
2007
2006
2007
2006
	US$	US$	US$	US$

(813,269)
1,622,030
217,397
1,561,497

11,424,623
2,137,699
304,899
687,459

(3,639,865)
92,410
–
1,333,947

(2,583,100)
98,721
–
459,540

2,587,655

14,554,680

(2,213,508)

(2,024,839)

(Increase)/decrease in inventory
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors

25,849
2,720,211
(7,178,629)

(2,379,835)
225,800
11,542,219

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities

(1,844,914)

23,942,864

Operating loss (profit)
Depletion and depreciation
Decommissioning charge
Share based payments charges

–
69,743
413,614
(1,730,151)

–
(73,030)
(221,020)
(2,318,889)

The decrease (increase) in debtors reported above for 2007 for the Group and the Company excludes an amount of US$12,502,931 due from the
sale of investment in Hindustan Oil Exploration Company (‘HOEC’) during the year.

7.	Staff costs
			
2007
2006
			US$	US$

Wages and salaries			
Social security costs			
Other pension costs 			
Share based payments charge			

3,358,398
144,105
7,550
1,297,654

2,363,687
144,493
16,958
408,191

			

4,807,707

2,933,329

Staffs costs include Executive Directors’ salaries, fees, benefits and share based payments, are shown gross before amounts recharged to
joint ventures.
The weighted average monthly number of employees, including Executive Directors and individuals employed by the Group working on joint
venture operations are as follows:
			

2007

2006

Management and administration			
Operations			

23
26

22
26
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8.	Share based payments
Share options had been granted to subscribe for Ordinary Shares, which are exercisable between 2006 and 2016 at prices of £1.44 to £4.31.
At 31 December 2007, there were 4,352,099 options outstanding.
Hardy has an unapproved share option scheme for the Directors and employees of the Group. Options are exercisable at the quoted market price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is three years with a stipulation that the options are granted in proportion to the period of
employment after the grant, subject to a minimum of one year. The options are exercisable for a period of ten years from the date of grant.
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8.	Share based payments (continued)
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:
2007
2006
		Weighted 		Weighted
		
average	Number
average
	Number
price
of options
price
of options
£
of options
£

Outstanding at beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Forfeited during the year
Exercised during the year

2,807,099
1,835,000
(244,999)
(45,001)

1.68
3.78
2.98
2.71

2,717,099
135,000
(43,333)
(1,667)

1.60
3.09
1.60
1.44

Outstanding at the end of the year

4,352,099

2.50

2,807,099

1.68

Exercisable at the end of the year

1,652,940

1.54

890,699

1.60

The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted outstanding as on 31 December 2007 is US$7,095,089. The inputs into the
binomial model for computation of the value of options are as follows:
Share price at the grant date
Option exercise price at grant date
Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk-free rate
Expected dividend

varies from £1.44 to £4.31
varies from £1.44 to £4.31
8% – 40%
6 years from grant date
4.35% – 4.70%
Nil

Expected volatility was determined by calculating Hardy’s historical volatility. The expected life used has been adjusted based on management’s
best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations. Details of outstanding options at the end
of the year with the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) are as follows:
Exercisable between

2005-2016
2006-2017
2007-2018

2007		
2006
Number	WAEP	Number	WAEP

2,637,099
40,000
1,675,000

£1.60
£3.11
£3.89

2,672,099
135,000
–

£1.60
£3.09
–

The Group has recognised an expense of US$1,510,699 (2006: US$595,762) towards equity settled share based payments. Equity shares to be
issued are revalued at the exchange rate as at 31 December 2007 and the value of shares to be issued as at 31 December 2007 is US$2,501,590
(2006: US$940,093).

9.	Directors’ emoluments
Details of each Director’s remuneration and share options are set out in the Director’s Remuneration Report that forms part of the Company’s
Annual Report. Directors’ emoluments are included within the remuneration of the key management personnel in note 31.

10.	Interest and investment income
			
2007
2006
			US$	US$

Bank interest			
Dividend			

1,381,121
–

2,137,665
151,289

			

1,381,121

2,288,954
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11.	Finance costs
			

2007
2006
			US$	US$

Bank guarantee charges			
Other finance charges			

180,400
–

267,985
7,443

			

180,400

275,428

12.	Taxation on profit/(loss)
a)	Analysis of taxation charge for the year
			

2007
2006
			US$	US$

Current tax charge 		
UK Corporation Tax 			

–

–

Foreign Tax		
India		
Minimum Alternate Tax on profits for the year 			
Previous year provision reversed			

226,731
–

–
(482,000)

			

226,731

(482,000)

Foreign tax		
USA			
Alternate Minimum Tax on profits for the year			

(80,876)
–

19,055
–

Total current tax charge			

145,855

(462,945)

Deferred tax charge			

2,169,348

3,668,326

Tax on profit on ordinary activities			

2,315,203

3,205,381

			

2007
2006
			US$	US$

Deferred tax charge:		
Origination and reversal of temporary differences			

2,169,348

3,668,326

Deferred tax charges			

2,169,348

3,668,326

			
2007
2006
Deferred tax analysis:			US$	US$

Differences between accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortisation and capital allowances		
Other temporary differences			
Tax losses			
Unrealised gain on investment			
Deferred tax/(liability)		

(9,374,066)
1,414,642
–
(3,441,945)

(18,594,071)
1,338,626
11,465,369
(2,475,165)

(11,401,369)

(8,265,241)
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12.	Taxation on profit/(loss) (continued)
b)	Factors affecting tax charge for the year
			
2007
2006
			US$	US$

Profit on ordinary activities before tax			
Profit on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the rate of tax in UK of 30%			
Mineral extraction and research allowances in excess of depreciation and utilisation of tax losses		
Foreign tax on overseas income – current year		
		
– reversal of previous year provision		

10,631,181
3,189,354
(3,189,354)
145,855
–

13,438,149
4,021,282
(4,021,282)
(462,945)

Indian operations of the Group are subject to a tax rate of 42.23% which is higher than UK and US corporations tax rates. To the extent that the
Indian profits are taxable in the US and/or the UK, then those territories should provide relief for Indian taxes, principally under the provisions
of double tax agreements. Based on the current expenditure plans, the Group anticipates that the tax allowances will continue to exceed the
depletion charge of each year, though the timing of related tax relief is uncertain.

13. Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated on a profit of US$8,315,978 for the year 2007 (2006: US$10,232,768) on a weighted average of 60,117,416
Ordinary Shares for the year 2007 (2006: 56,695,898).
The diluted earnings per share are calculated on a profit of US$8,315,978 for the year 2007 (2006: US$10,232,768) on a weighted average
of 64,469,515 Ordinary Shares for the year 2007 (2006: 59,367,997). The weighted average shares are arrived after giving impact to dilutive
potential Ordinary Shares of 4,352,099 as on 31 December 2007 (2006: 2,672,099) relating to share options.

14.	Intangible assets – exploration
		India	Nigeria	Total
		US$	US$	US$

Costs and net book value			
At 1 January 2006		
15,359,126
Additions		
50,430,702

823,151
603,302

16,182,277
51,034,004

At 1 January 2007		
Additions		

65,789,828
31,031,822

1,426,453
1,036,431

67,216,281
32,068,253

At 31 December 2007		

96,821,650

2,462,884

99,284,534
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15.	Intangible assets – others
			
Group	Company
			US$	US$

Cost		
At 1 January 2006			
Additions			
Disposals			

163,072
176,972
–

126,750
4,500
–

At 1 January 2007			
Additions			
Disposals			

340,044
147,298
–

131,250
–
–

At 31 December 2007			

487,342

131,250

Accumulated depreciation		
At 1 January 2006			
Charge for the period			
Disposals			

15,562
107,284
–

13,605
52,063
–

At 1 January 2007			
Charge for the year			
Disposals
		

122,846
117,924
–

65,668
43,747
–

At 31 December 2007			

240,770

109,415

Net book value as at 31 December 2007			

246,572

21,835

Net book value as at 31 December 2006			

217,198

65,582

16. Property, plant and equipment
Oil and gas assets represent interest in producing oil and gas assets falling under the India cost pool. There are no oil and gas tangible assets
currently in the Nigerian cost pool. Other tangible assets consist of office furniture, computers, workstations and office equipment.
		
Oil and gas
Other fixed
		
assets
assets	Total
Group		US$	US$	US$

Cost
At 1 January 2006		
Additions		
Disposals		

23,217,681
2,784,494
–

2,287,644
247,992
(1,683)

25,505,325
3,032,486
(1,683)

At 1 January 2007		
Additions		

26,002,175
(5,856)

2,533,953
38,753

28,536,128
32,897

At 31 December 2007		

25,996,319

2,572,706

28,569,025

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation			
At 1 January 2006		
19,149,354
Charge for the year		
2,192,810
Disposals		
–

1,989,074
142,503
(1,683)

21,138,428
2,335,313
(1,683)

At 1 January 2007		
Charge for the year		
Disposals		

21,342,164
1,561,498
–

2,129,894
160,006
–

23,472,058
1,721,504
–

At 31 December 2007		

22,903,662

2,289,900

25,193,562

Net book value at 31 December 2007 		

3,092,657

282,806

3,375,463

Net book value at 31 December 2006 		

4,660,011

404,059

5,064,070
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
				

Total
Company				US$

Cost
At 1 January 2006				
Additions				
Disposals				

273,831
47,938
–

At 1 January 2007				
Additions				

321,769
11,731

At 31 December 2007				

333,500

Depreciation
At 1 January 2006				
Charge for the year				

97,252
46,658

At 1 January 2007				
Charge for the year				

143,910
48,663

At 31 December 2007				

192,573

Net book value at 31 December 2007 				

140,927

Net book value at 31 December 2006 				

177,859

17.	Investments
Group				US$

Carrying value at 1 January 2006				
Additional investment during the year				
Valuation loss during the year				

17,968,252
2,778,914
(6,910,256)

Carrying value at 1 January 2007				
Increase in unrealised valuation gain during the year				
Cost of investment sold during the year				

13,836,910
3,514,603
(2,259,202)

Carrying value at 31 December 2007				

15,092,311

		Shares in	Loan to
Other
		
subsidiary
subsidiary
investment
Company 		US$	US$	US$

Carrying value at 1 January 2006		
3,903,312
1,028,804
Additional investment during the year		
227,919
21,494,196
Valuation loss during the year				

17,968,252
2,778,914
(6,910,256)

Carrying value at 1 January 2007		
4,131,231
22,523,000
Increase in unrealised valuation gain during the year				
Cost of investment sold during the year				
Additional investment during the year		
227,550
33,000,294

13,836,910
3,514,603
(2,259,202)
–

Carrying value at 31 December 2007		

15,092,311

4,358,781

55,523,294

Other investment represents investment in 3,647,694 equity shares of an Indian company Hindustan Oil Exploration Company Limited (‘HOEC’)
listed on the National Stock Exchange and Bombay Stock Exchange in India as on 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006: 6,657,694 shares).
The market value of the shares as on 31 December 2007 is Rs 163.10 per share based on the closing rate at National Stock Exchange on
31 December 2007 converted at an exchange rate of one US$ equal to Rs 39.42. (2006: Price of Rs 91.80 per share at an exchange rate of
1 US$ = Rs 44.17).
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During 2007, 3,010,000 shares were sold for a consideration of US$12,502,931 resulting in a realised gain on sale of investment of US$10,243,729
which has been reflected in the consolidated income statement.
In the month of January 2008, 1,971,411 shares were sold for US$8,067,179. In addition, an amount of US$13,184,387 was subscribed for the
rights issues of HOEC for 4,438,462 equity shares which were allotted on 29 January 2008.

18.	Members of the Group
The Group comprises the Parent Company – Hardy Oil and Gas plc – and the following subsidiary companies, all of which are wholly owned:
• Hardy Exploration & Production (India) incorporated under the Laws of the State of Delaware, United States of America.
• Hardy Oil (Africa) Limited incorporated under the laws of the Isle of Man.
• Hardy Oil Nigeria Limited, owned by Hardy Oil (Africa) Limited, registered under the laws of Nigeria.		
All members of the Group are engaged in the business of exploration and production of oil and gas and all are included in the consolidation.

19.	Inventory
Group
Group
Company	Company
2007
2006
2007
2006
	US$	US$	US$	US$

Crude oil
Drilling and production stores and spares

1,132,065
1,571,850

154,529
2,575,235

–
–

–
–

2,703,915

2,729,764

–

–

20.	Trade and other receivables
Group
Group 	Company	Company
2007
2006
2007
2006
	US$	US$	US$	US$

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Advance tax paid in India
Prepayments and accrued income

–
13,010,499
1,122,068
392,873

2,363,197
931,640
985,659
356,566

–
12,685,119
–
4,212

–
247,277
–
4,654

14,525,440

4,637,062

12,689,331

251,931

Other receivables include an amount of US$12,502,931 due from the sale of investment in Hindustan Oil Exploration Company (‘HOEC’) during
the year.

21.	Contingent liabilities
Bank guarantees for US$5,026,210 have been issued to Government of India. The guarantees were obtained by placing a fixed deposit of
Rs 23,220,465 (US$589,053) with a bank with the interest rate of 9.50%.
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22.	Trade and other payables
Group
Group	Company	Company
2007
2006
2007
2006
	US$	US$	US$	US$

Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals

4,255,542
1,503,442
4,098,925

4,377,641
1,853,415
10,578,751

513,986
–
53,410

57,098
–
96,684

9,857,909

16,809,807

567,396

153,782

23.	Provision for decommissioning
				

Group
				US$

At 1 January 2006				
Additional cost for decommissioning 				

1,863,720
2,636,280

At 1 January 2007				
Additional cost for decommissioning 				

4,500,000
–

At 31 December 2007				

4,500,000

The provision has been made by estimating the decommissioning cost at the current prices with the existing technology. Decommissioning costs
are expected to be incurred between 2016 and 2020.
An amount of US$3,369,820 has been deposited with State Bank of India for site restoration obligations. This amount has been treated as a
non-current asset.

24.	Share capital
			

Number
			US$0.01 Ordinary
			Shares ‘000’	US$

Authorised Ordinary Shares		
At 1 January 2006			
At 1 January 2007			
At 31 December 2007			

200,000
200,000
200,000

2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

		
Allotted, issued and fully paid Ordinary Shares
At 1 January 2006			
Share options exercised during the year			
Shares issued during the year			

52,046,667
1,667
5,204,660

520,467
16
52,047

At 1 January 2007			
Share options exercised during the year			
Shares issued during the year			

57,252,994
45,001
4,964,540

572,530
450
49,645

At 31 December 2007			

62,262,535

622,625
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25.	Reserves
a)
		Share	Shares
Other	Retained
		
premium
to be issued
reserves
earnings
Group		US$	US$	US$	US$

At 1 January 2006
Share options exercised
Issue of shares
Issue expenses
Shares to be issued
Valuation gain/(loss) on investment
Deferred tax on valuation gain
Retained earnings for the year

28,507,954
4,418
25,542,863
(1,072,252)
–
–
–
–

252,634
–
–
–
687,459
–
–
–

11,340,093
–
–
–
–
(6,910,256)
1,934,872
–

20,308,753
–
–
–
–
–
–
10,232,768

At 1 January 2007
Share options exercised
Issue of shares
Issue expenses
Shares to be issued
Increase in unrealised valuation gain on investment
Deferred tax on unrealised valuation gain
Retained earnings for the year

52,982,983
245,527
41,593,363
(1,720,294)
–
–
–
–

940,093
–
–
–
1,561,497
–
–
–

6,364,709
–
–
–
–
3,514,603
(966,780)
–

30,541,521
–
–
–
–
–
–
8,315,978

At 31 December 2007

93,101,579

2,501,590

8,912,532

38,857,499

Other reserves represent the unrealised gain on investment based on the fair value at the balance sheet date, net of related deferred taxes.

b)
	Share	Shares
Other	Retained
premium
to be issued
reserves
earnings
Company	US$	US$	US$	US$

At 1 January 2006
Share options exercised
Issue of shares
Issue expenses
Shares to be issued
Valuation gain/(loss) on investment
Deferred tax on valuation gain
Retained earnings for the year

28,507,954
4,418
25,542,863
(1,072,252)
–
–
–
–

252,634
–
–
–
687,459
–
–
–

11,340,093
–
–
–
–
(6,910,256)
1,934,872
–

(2,677,367)
–
–
–
–
–
–
283,578

At 1 January 2007
Share options exercised
Issue of shares
Issue expenses
Shares to be issued
Increase in unrealised valuation gain on investment
Deferred tax on unrealised valuation gain
Retained earnings for the year

52,982,983
940,093
245,527		
41,593,363
–
(1,720,294)
–
–
1,561,497
–
–
–
–
–
–

6,364,709
–
–
–
–
3,514,603
(966,780)
–

(2,393,789)
–
–
–
–
–
–
8,194,489

At 31 December 2007

93,101,579

8,912,532

5,800,700

2,501,590
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26.	Financial instruments
Hardy finances its operations through a mixture of retained earnings, additional equity and bank borrowings if required. Finance requirements
such as equity, debt and project finance are reviewed by the Board when substantial funds are required for acquisition, exploration and
development of projects.
Hardy’s principal financial instruments are cash and short-term deposits and these instruments are only for the purpose of meeting its requirement
for operations.
All of the Group’s sales are to a state oil company in India. Credit risk is minimal.
Hardy’s main risks arising from financial instruments are foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. Hardy’s policy of managing the foreign currency risk
and liquidity risk are as follows:

Foreign currency risk
The Group reports are in US dollars and the majority of its business is conducted in US dollars. All revenues from oil sales are received in US dollars
and all costs except a small portion towards expenses at the London office are incurred in US dollars. In case of currency exposure other than
US dollars, a portion of the cash is kept in deposit in other currencies to meet its payments as required. No forward exchange contracts were
entered into during the year.

Liquidity risk
The group deposits surplus cash on short-term deposits ensuring sufficient liquidity to meet the Group’s expenditure requirements. Hardy has no
outstanding loan obligations at the end of the year.

Maturity of financial liabilities
The financial liabilities and its maturity as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 are as follows:
			
2007
			US$

In more than two years but not more than five years 			
In more than five years 			

–
4,500,000

2006
US$

–
4,500,000

The Group does not have any fixed maturity and interest-bearing financial liabilities as at 31 December 2007 or 31 December 2006.

Interest rate risk profile of financial assets
The interest rate risk profile of the financial assets of the Group as at 31 December 2007 as follows:
	Fixed rate 	Floating rate	Financial asset –
financial
financial
no interest is
asset
asset
earned	Total
	US$	US$	US$	US$

US Dollars
Pound Sterling
Indian Rupees
Nigerian Naira

18,754,014
9,213,427
589,053
–

916,405
221,015
–
–

713,606
39,752
707,310
2,466

20,384,025
9,474,194
1,296,363
2,466

Cash and cash equivalents

28,556,494

1,137,420

1,463,134

31,157,048

An amount of US$3,369,820 deposited with State Bank of India for site restoration obligation is treated as a non-current asset and the interest
rate of this deposit is based on the highest rate of interest as applicable for the period paid by the State bank of India.
Financial assets include cash and deposits and the floating interest rates are based on the base rate of the relevant central bank.
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The interest rate risk of the financial assets of the Group as at 31 December 2006 as follows:
	Fixed rate 	Floating rate	Financial asset –
financial
financial
no interest is
asset
asset
earned
Total
	US$	US$	US$	US$

US Dollars
Pound Sterling
Indian Rupees
Nigerian Naira

16,239,782
–
393,986
–

5,662,138
243,566
–
–

1,108,124
44,472
784,649
14,222

23,010,044
288,038
1,178,635
14,222

16,633,768

5,905,704

1,951,467

24,490,939

An amount of US$2,784,660 deposited with State Bank of India for site restoration obligation is treated as a non-current asset and the interest
rate of this deposit is based on the highest rate of interest as applicable for the period paid by the State bank of India.
Financial assets include cash and deposits and the floating interest rates are based on the base rate of the relevant central bank.

Currency exposures
The currency exposures of the monetary assets denominated in currencies other than US dollar of the Group as at 31 December 2007 are as follows:
	Indian	Pound	Nigerian
	Rupees	Sterling	Naira	Total
	US$	US$	US$	US$

US$

4,666,183

9,474,194

2,466

14,142,843

An amount of US$302,986 was recognised as a foreign exchange gain for the year 2007.
The currency exposures of the monetary assets denominated in currencies other than US dollar of the Group as at 31 December 2006 are as follows:
	Indian	Pound	Nigerian
	Rupees	Sterling	Naira	Total
	US$	US$	US$	US$

US$

3,963,295

288,038

14,222

4,265,555

An amount of US$99,952 was recognised as a foreign exchange gain for the year 2007.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
Fair values of Hardy’s financial assets and liabilities excluding short-term receivables and payables are compared as follows:
Book value	Fair value
Book value	Fair value
2007
2007
2006
2006
Primary financial instruments	US$	US$	US$	US$

Fixed asset investments
Cash and short-term deposits
Site restoration deposit
Provisions for decommissioning

15,092,311
31,157,048
3,369,820
(4,500,000)

15,092,311
31,157,048
3,369,820
(4,500,000)

13,836,910
24,490,939
2,784,660
(4,500,000)

13,836,910
24,490,939
2,784,660
(4,500,000)

45,119,179

45,119,179

36,612,509

36,612,509
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27.	Capital commitments
Group
2007
	US$

Oil and gas expenditure
Intangible exploration/appraisal assets contracted for

100,692

Group 	Company	Company
2006
2007
2006
US$
US$ 	US$

			
21,164,057
–

–

28.	Pension commitments
The Group and the Company have no pension commitments as at the balance sheet date.

29. Other financial commitments under operating leases
Group entities have entered into commercial leases for land and building and office equipment. These leases have an average life of one to five
years and there are no restrictions placed on the lessee by entering into these leases. The minimum future lease payments for the non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:
		 Group	Company
2007
2006
2007
2006
	US$	US$	US$	US$

Land and buildings, expiring within:			
One year
346,717
296,967
189,696
Two to five years
776,474
783,579
659,195
After five years
–
89,333
–
				
Other within:
One year
19,782
20,986
–
Two to five years
9,190
25,857
–
After five years
–
–
–

188,070
752,280
89,333

–
–
–

30.	Contingent liabilities
The Group issues guarantees in respect of obligations under various Production Sharing Contracts (‘PSC’) in the normal course of business.
The Group has provided the guarantees for US$5,026,210 as at 31 December 2007 issued under the bank facility with Bank of Nova Scotia
for the Group’s share of minimum work program commitments for the year 2007. The details of the bank guarantees provided are as follows:
PSC		

GS-OSN-2000/1
KG-DWN-2001/1
KG-DWN-2003/1

Guarantee Number	US$

ILG009/42465/07
ILG010/42465/07
ILG011/42465/07

1,524,530
1,518,230
1,983,450

			

5,026,210

In addition Parent Company guarantees for the Group’s obligations under the PSC’s were provided to Government of India.
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31.	Related party transactions
a)	The Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries are listed in note 17. The following provides the details of balances
outstanding with subsidiary companies at balance sheet dates:
			
2007
			US$

2006
US$

55,523,294

22,523,000

Amount owed from subsidiary undertakings			

b)	The following provides the details of the transactions with subsidiary companies all of which were carried out at on
arm’s length basis:
			
2007
2006
			US$	US$

566,565
180,000
2,720,545

798,957
180,000
241,600

			
2007
			US$

2006
US$

Short term employee benefit			
Share based payments			

1,346,742
1,134,792

921,371
319,682

			

2,481,534

1,241,053

Parent Company fees to joint venture operations of subsidiary 		
Management fees			
Inter company interest receivable			

		
The interest charges and receivable are based on market rates.

c)	Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and the key management personnel of the Group in aggregate are as follows:

Further information about the remuneration of individual Directors is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report which forms part of the
Group’s 2007 Annual Report.

32. Explanation of transition to IFRS
Hardy has a mandatory requirement to implement International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) for accounting periods commencing
1 January 2007.
In order to comply with IFRS, Hardy has restated consolidated and Company financial statements for 2006 and has revised its accounting policies.
Hardy has also prepared a reconciliation of its consolidated and Company financial statements under UK GAAP to those prepared under IFRS.
In addition, Hardy has prepared statements reflecting the revised opening balances at 1 January 2006.
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Reconciliation of IFRS Consolidated Balance Sheet
at 1 January 2006
			
Effect of
			
transition
		UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
		US$	US$	US$

Assets			
Non-current assets			
Intangible assets – exploration		
9,547,305
Property, plant and equipment		
11,395,296
Intangible assets – others		
–
Investment		
2,218,122

6,634,972
(7,028,399)
147,510
15,750,130

16,182,277
4,366,897
147,510
17,968,252

		
23,160,723
Current assets			
Inventories		
349,929
Deferred tax asset		
745,000
Trade and other receivables		
4,343,755
Cash and cash equivalents		
31,234,376

15,504,213

38,664,936

–
(745,000)
–
–

349,929
–
4,343,755
31,234,376

		
36,673,060
			
Total assets		
59,833,783

(745,000)

35,928,060

14,759,213

74,592,996

			
Liabilities			
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables		
(5,267,588)

–

(5,267,588)

–

(5,267,588)

–
(3,777,628)

(1,863,720)
(6,531,786)

(3,777,628)

(8,395,506)

(3,777,628)

(13,663,094)

49,948,317

10,981,585

60,929,902

Equity			
Called-up share capital 		
520,467
Share premium account		
28,507,954
Shares to be issued		
252,634
Other reserves		
–
Retained earnings		
20,667,262

–
–
–
11,340,094
(358,509)

520,467
28,507,954
252,634
11,340,094
20,308,753

Total equity		

10,981,585

60,929,902

		
(5,267,588)
Non-current liabilities			
Provisions for liabilities and charges		
(1,863,720)
Provision for deferred tax		
(2,754,158)
		
(4,617,878)
			
Total liabilities		
(9,885,466)
Net assets		

49,948,317

The following notes reconcile the UK GAAP transition date balance sheet derived from the 31 December 2005 Annual Report with the balance
sheet under IFRS as at 1 January 2006.
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Reconciliation of IFRS Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)
i)	Intangible assets – exploration

Under UK GAAP, intangible fixed assets represented pre-licence acquisition costs and exploration and evaluation (‘E&E’) costs of individual licence
interests held outside the depreciable cost pools pending determination of commerciality. Under IFRS, intangible assets have been adjusted to
write off cumulative pre-licence acquisition costs of US$272,675 relating to the Nigeria cost pool, which was capitalised in intangible assets during
2005. Under UK GAAP, the cost of dry holes of exploration blocks pending determination of commerciality of reserves have been capitalised and
included in the tangible fixed assets in the respective cost pools. Under IFRS, the cost of dry holes of exploration blocks pending determination of
commerciality are capitalised under Intangible cost – exploration and are not depleted. Accordingly, under IFRS an amount of US$6,907,647 was
transferred to Intangible assets – exploration from tangible fixed assets at 1 January 2006.
ii)	Property, plant and equipment

Under UK GAAP, tangible fixed assets comprised of oil and gas properties for which the existence or otherwise of commercial reserves had
been established, recorded by reference to the geographic cost pools such as India and Nigeria. This caption also included certain exploration
and evaluation expenditure incurred within the cost pools and other fixed assets, including non oil and gas specific plant and equipment,
office furniture and IT equipment.
Under UK GAAP, the loss on sale of asset and the loss on sale of wholly owned subsidiary undertakings amounting to US$705,742 were capitalised
as tangible fixed assets in 2004 and were also considered for charging depletion. Consequent to the above transfer, including the transfer of dry
hole cost US$6,907,647 to Intangible assets-exploration, the depletion charge of US$732,500 was reversed and added to the cost of property,
plant and equipment. Under IFRS, Software costs US$147,510 were transferred to Intangible assets – others on 1 January 2006. All the above
resulted in a decrease of property, plant and equipment by US$7,028,399.
iii)	Investment

Under UK GAAP, the investment in publicly traded securities is held at cost. Under IFRS, such investments are recognised at fair values based upon
quoted market prices on balance sheet dates. As a result, the carrying value of investment has been increased by US$15,750,130 at 1 January
2006. Deferred tax has been provided on such unrealised gain on investment as of 1 January 2006 and the net gains at 1 January 2006 have been
directly credited to equity – other reserves.
iv)	Provision for deferred taxation

Consequential changes have been made to the provision for deferred taxes by US$3,777,628 as at 1 January 2006, as a result of writing off
pre-exploration expenditures, reducing depletion and reflecting investment at fair value.
v)	Retained earnings

The above adjustments resulted in a reduction in retained earnings by US$358,509.
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Reconciliation of IFRS Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006
			
Effect of
			
transition
		UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
		US$	US$	US$

Revenue		

21,316,935

–

21,316,935

Cost of sales			
Production costs		
(2,999,086)
Depletion		
(5,072,414)
Decommissioning charge		
(304,899)

–
3,184,503
–

(2,999,086)
(1,887,911)
(304,899)

Gross profit		
Other operating income		
Administrative expenses		

12,940,536
1,000,000
(5,700,416)

3,184,503
–
–

16,125,039
1,000,000
(5,700,416)

Operating profit 		
Interest and investment income		
Finance costs		

8,240,120
2,288,954
(275,428)

3,184,503
–
–

11,424,623
2,288,954
(275,428)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation		

10,253,646

3,184,503

13,438,149

Tax on profit on ordinary activities		

(2,260,193)

(945,188)

(3,205,381)

Profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Parent Company		

7,993,453

2,239,315

10,232,768

Earnings per share 			
Basic		
0.14
Diluted		
0.13

0.04
0.04

0.18
0.17
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Reconciliation of IFRS Consolidated Balance Sheet
at 31 December 2006
			
Effect of
			
transition
		UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
		US$	US$	US$

Assets			
Non-current assets			
Intangible assets – exploration		
33,788,334
Property, plant and equipment		
35,770,629
Intangible assets – others		
–
Investment		
4,997,036
Site restoration deposit		
–

33,427,947
(30,706,559)
217,198
8,839,874
2,784,660

67,216,281
5,064,070
217,198
13,836,910
2,784,660

		
74,555,999
Current assets			
Inventories		
2,729,764
Trade and other receivables		
4,637,062
Cash and cash equivalents		
27,275,599

14,563,120

89,119,119

–
–
(2,784,660)

2,729,764
4,637,062
24,490,939

		
34,642,425
			
Total assets		 109,198,424

(2,784,660)

31,857,765

11,778,460

120,976,884

			
Liabilities			
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables		 (16,809,807)

–

(16,809,807)

		 (16,809,807)
Non-current liabilities			
Provisions for liabilities and charges		
(4,500,000)
Provision for deferred tax		
(4,732,296)

–

(16,809,807)

–
(3.532,945)

(4,500,000)
(8,265,241)

		

(9,232,296)

(3,532,945)

(12,765,241)

			
Total liabilities		

(26,042,103)

(3,532,945)

(29,575,048)

			
Net assets		
83,156,321

8,245,515

91,401,836

Equity			
Called-up share capital 		
572,530
Share premium account		
52,982,983
Shares to be issued		
940,093
Other reserves		
–
Retained earnings		
28,660,715

–
–
–
6,364,709
1,880,806

572,530
52,982,983
940,093
6,364,709
30,541,521

Total equity		

8,245,515

91,401,836

83,156,321
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Reconciliation of IFRS Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006
			
Effect of
			
transition
		UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
		US$	US$	US$

Operating activities			
Cash flow generated by operations		
23,942,864
Taxation paid		
(143,280)

–
–

23,942,864
(143,280)

–

23,799,584

–
–
(176,972)
176,972
–
(2,784,660)

(51,034,004)
(148,215)
(176,972)
(247,992)
(2,778,914)
(2,784,660)

Net cash used in investing activities		 (54,386,097)
			
Financing activities			
Interest and investment income		
2,376,072
Finance costs		
(275,428)
Issue of shares		
24,527,092

(2,784,660)

(57,170,757)

–
–
–

2,376,072
(275,428)
24,527,092

Net cash provided in financing activities		
26,627,736
			
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		
(3,958,777)

–

26,627,736

Net cash from operating activities		
23,799,584
			
Investing activities			
Purchase of intangible assets – exploration		 (51,034,004)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		
(148,215)
Purchase of intangible fixed assets – others		
–
Purchase of other fixed assets		
(424,964)
Purchase of investment		
(2,778,914)
Site restoration deposit		
–

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		

31,234,376

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year		

27,275,599

(2,784,660)
–
(2,784,660)

(6,743,437)
31,234,376
24,490,939
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Reconciliation of IFRS Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2006

			
Effect of
			
transition
		UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
		US$	US$	US$

Opening equity		

49,948,317

10,981,585

60,929,902

			
Profit for the year		
7,993,453
Valuation gain/(loss) transferred to equity – other reserves		
–
Deferred tax asset/(liability) on valuation gain or loss		
–

2,239,315
(6,910,256)
1,934,871

10,232,768
(6,910,256)
1,934,871

Total recognised gains and losses		

7,993,453

(2,736,070)

5,257,383

Issue of shares		
Share based payments		

24,527,092
687,459

–
–

24,527,092
687,459

Closing equity 			

83,156,321

8,245,515

91,401,836

			
The following notes reconcile the UK GAAP financial statements with the consolidated financial statements prepared under IFRS for the year
ended 31 December 2006.

a)	Consolidated Income Statement
i)	Depletion

Under UK GAAP, costs carried within each regional cost pool, which may contain a number of individual fields, were depleted on a unit of
production basis by reference to that cost pool. Under IFRS costs are still depleted on a unit of production basis but by reference to specific fields.
Under UK GAAP, unsuccessful exploration costs were transferred from intangible fixed assets to tangible fixed assets and depleted accordingly.
Under IFRS, the unsuccessful exploration costs are capitalised as intangible fixed assets pending determination of whether or not commercial
reserves exist. As a result, the depletion charge for the year 2006 has been reduced by US$3,184,503.
ii)	Taxation

There is no impact on current tax. Deferred taxation has been adjusted by US$945,188 to account for the impact of reduction in depletion for the
year 2006.

b)	Consolidated Balance Sheet
i)	Intangible assets – exploration

Under UK GAAP, intangible fixed assets represented pre-licence acquisition costs and exploration and evaluation (‘E&E’) costs of individual licence
interests held outside the depreciable cost pools pending determination of commerciality. Under IFRS, intangible assets have been adjusted to write
off cumulative pre-licence acquisition costs of US$272,675 relating to the Nigeria cost pool, which was capitalised in intangible assets during 2005.
ii)	Property, plant and equipment

Under UK GAAP, tangible fixed assets comprised of oil and gas properties for which the existence or otherwise of commercial reserves had
been established, recorded by reference to the geographic cost pools such as India and Nigeria. This caption also included certain exploration
and evaluation expenditure incurred within the cost pools and other fixed assets, including non oil and gas specific plant and equipment,
office furniture and IT equipment.
Under UK GAAP, the cost of dry holes of exploration blocks pending determination of commerciality of reserves have been capitalised and
included in the tangible fixed assets in the respective cost pools. Under IFRS, the cost of dry holes of exploration blocks pending determination
of commerciality are capitalised under Intangible cost – exploration and are not depleted. Accordingly, under IFRS an amount of US$6,907,647
was transferred to Intangible assets – exploration from tangible fixed assets at 1 January 2006. Likewise, an amount of US$26,792,975 was
transferred from tangible fixed assets to Intangible assets – exploration in 2006. Consequent to the above, the depletion cost is reversed by
US$3,917,003 as at 31 December 2006.
Under UK GAAP, the loss on sale of assets and the loss on sale of wholly owned subsidiary undertakings amounting to US$705,742 were capitalised
as tangible fixed assets in 2004 and were also considered for charging depletion.
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Reconciliation of IFRS Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2006

iii)	Investment

Under UK GAAP, the investment in publicly traded securities is held at cost. Under IFRS, such investments are recognised at fair values based upon
quoted market prices on balance sheet dates. As a result, the carrying value of investment has been adjusted by US$8,839,874 at 31 December
2006. Deferred tax has been adjusted on such unrealised gain on investment as of 31 December 2006. Net gains at 31 December 2006 have been
directly credited to equity – other reserves.
iv)	Site restoration deposit

As at 31 December 2006, an amount of US$2,784,660 was deposited with State Bank of India as site restoration fund. This amount was included in
cash and cash equivalents and is now transferred to site restoration deposit under IFRS as at 31 December 2006.
v)	Provision for deferred taxation

Consequential changes have been made to the provision for deferred taxes at 31 December 2006 as a result of writing off pre-exploration
expenditures, reducing depletion and reflecting investment at fair value.

c)	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Cash flow statements prepared under IAS 7 presents the cash flows in three categories: operating activities, investing activities and financing
activities, which are fewer than the categories under UK GAAP. Other than the reclassification and the movement of deposit of site restoration
deposit from cash and cash equivalents, no other material changes were made.
Pre-licence costs were shown within ‘capital expenditure’ under UK GAAP. Since such costs are being expensed under IFRS, they have been
classified within operating cash flows under IFRS. Purchases of software was taken under tangible fixed assets under UK GAAP have been
reclassified to purchases of Intangible assets – others.
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Reconciliation of IFRS transition for the company:
Reconciliation of IFRS Balance Sheet of the company
at 1 January 2006

			
Effect of
			
transition
		UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
		US$	US$	US$

Assets			
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment		
289,724
Intangible assets – others		
–
Investment 			
– in subsidiary undertakings		
3,903,312
– inter corporate loan		
1,028,804
– in securities		
2,218,122
		
7,439,962
Current assets			
Trade and other receivables		
178,901
Cash and cash equivalents		
19,359,627

(113,145)
113,145

176,579
113,145

–
–
15,750,130

3,903,312
1,028,804
17,968,252

15,750,130

23,190,092

–
–

178,901
19,359,627

		

19,538,528

–

19,538,528

Total assets		

26,978,490

15,750,130

42,728,620

Liabilities			
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables		
(374,802)

–

(374,802)

–

(374,802)

		
(374,802)
Non-current liabilities			
Provision for deferred tax		
–

(4,410,036)

(4,410,036)

		
Total liabilities		

–
(374,802)

(4,410,036)
(4,410,036)

(4,410,036)
(4,784,838)

Net assets		

26,603,688

11,340,094

37,943,782

Equity			
Called-up share capital 		
520,467
Share premium account		
28,507,954
Shares to be issued		
252,634
Other reserves		
–
Retained earnings		
(2,677,367)

–
–
–
11,340,094
–

520,467
28,507,954
252,634
11,340,094
(2,677,367)

Total equity		

11,340,094

37,943,782

26,603,688

The following notes reconcile the UK GAAP transition date balance sheet of the Company derived from the 31 December 2005 Annual Report
with the balance sheet under IFRS as at 1 January 2006.
i)	Property, plant and equipment

Under IFRS, Software costs are treated as intangible assets. Accordingly, US$113,145 was transferred to Intangible assets – others from property,
plant and equipment on 1 January 2006.
ii)	Investment

Under UK GAAP, the investment in publicly traded securities is held at cost. Under IFRS, such investments are recognised at fair values based upon
quoted market prices on balance sheet dates. As a result, the carrying value of investment has been increased by US$15,750,130 at 1 January 2006.
Deferred tax has been provided on such unrealised gain on investment as of 1 January 2006 and the net gains at 1 January 2006 have been directly
credited to equity – other reserves.
iii)	Provision for deferred taxation

Consequential changes have been made to the provision for deferred taxes by US$4,410,036 as at 1 January 2006 towards unrealised gain on
investment.
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Reconciliation of IFRS Balance Sheet of the company
at 31 December 2006
				
Effect of
				
transition
			UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
			US$	US$	US$

Assets			
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment		
243,441
Intangible assets – others		
–
Investment 			
– in subsidiary undertakings		
4,131,231
– inter corporate loan		
22,523,000
– in securities		
4,997,036
		
31,894,708
Current assets			
Deferred tax asset		
790,801
Trade and other receivables		
251,931
Cash and cash equivalents		
19,318,159

(65,582)
65,582

177,859
65,582

–
–
8,839,874

4,131,231
22,523,000
13,836,910

8,839,874

40,734,582

(790,801)
–
–

–
251,931
19,318,159

		

20,360,891

(790,801)

19,570,090

Total assets		

52,255,599

8,049,073

60,304,672

Liabilities			
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables		
(153,782)

–

(153,782)

		
(153,782)
Non-current liabilities			
Provision for deferred tax		
–

–

(153,782)

(1,684,364)

(1,684,364)

		
Total liabilities		

(1,684,364)
(1,684,364)

(1,684,364)
(1,838,146)

52,101,817

6,364,709

58,466,526

Equity			
Called-up share capital 		
572,530
Share premium account		
52,982,983
Shares to be issued		
940,093
Other reserves		
–
Retained earnings		
(2,393,789)

–
–
–
6,364,709
–

572,530
52,982,983
940,093
6,364,709
(2,393,789)

Total equity		

6,364,709

58,466,526

Net assets		

–
(153,782)

52,101,817
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Reconciliation of IFRS Statement of Changes in Equity of the
company
for the year ended 31 December 2006

			
Effect of
			
transition
		UK GAAP	
to IFRS	IFRS
		US$	US$	US$

Opening equity		
26,603,688
			
Profit for the year		
283,578
Valuation gain/(loss) transferred to equity – other reserves		
–
Deferred tax asset/(liability) on valuation gain or loss		
–

11,340,094

37,943,782

–
(6,910,256)
1,934,871

283,578
(6,910,256)
1,934,871

Total recognised gains and losses		

283,578

(4,975,385)

(4,691,807)

Issue of shares		
Share based payments		

24,527,092
687,459

–
–

24,527,092
687,459

Closing equity 		

52,101,817

6,364,709

58,466,526

			
The following notes reconcile the UK GAAP financial statements, with the financial statements of the Company prepared under IFRS for the year
ended 31 December 2006.
i)	Property, plant and equipment

Under IFRS, Software costs are treated as intangible assets. Accordingly, US$65,582 was transferred to Intangible assets – others from property,
plant and equipment on 31 December 2006.
ii)	Investment

Under UK GAAP, the investment in publicly traded securities is held at cost. Under IFRS, such investments are recognised at fair values based upon
quoted market prices on balance sheet dates. As a result, the carrying value of investment has been adjusted by US$8,839,874 at 31 December
2006. Deferred tax has been adjusted on such unrealised gain on investment as of 31 December 2006. Net gains at 31 December 2006 have been
directly credited to equity – other reserves.
iii)	Provision for deferred taxation

Consequential changes have been made to the provision for deferred taxes at 31 December 2006.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
To the Members of Hardy Oil and Gas (the Company)
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on 29 May 2008 at the office of the Company,
15-19 Athol Street, Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB at precisely 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions:
1. to receive and adopt the Company’s annual accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 together with the Directors’ report and
auditors’ report on those accounts;
2. to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report contained in the Annual Report;
3. to re-elect Mr Edward Paul Mortimer as a Director of the Company;
4. to re-elect Dr Carol Bell as a Director of the Company;
5. to re-appoint Mr Dinesh Dattani as a Director of the Company;
6. to reappoint Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP as auditors to hold office from the conclusion of the meeting to the conclusion of the next meeting at
which the accounts are laid before the Company, at a remuneration to be determined by the Directors of the Company.

Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions which, in the case of resolutions 7 and 8, will be proposed as special resolutions
and, in the case of resolution 9, will be proposed as an ordinary resolution:
7. To authorise the Company generally for the purposes of Section 13 of the Companies Act 1992 to make market purchases (as defined in Section
13(2) of the said Act) of Ordinary Shares of US$0.01 each in the capital of the Company (‘Ordinary Shares’) provided that:
(a) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 9,333,154 Ordinary Shares which represents 14.99% of the
Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of this notice;
(b) the minimum price which may be paid for such Ordinary Shares is the nominal amount thereof;
(c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for such Ordinary Shares shall be 5% above the average of the middle market
quotations taken from the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange plc for the five business days before the purchase is made;
(d) the authority hereby conferred shall (unless previously renewed or revoked) expire on the earlier of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company and the date which is 18 months after the date on which this resolution is passed; and
(e) the Company may make a contract to purchase its own Ordinary Shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the expiry of such
authority which will or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority, and may make a purchase of its own Ordinary Shares in
pursuance of any such contract.
8. To approve the disapplication of the provisions of Article 5.1 of the Articles of Association of the Company to the issue of Ordinary Shares up to an
aggregate number of 3,113,127 which represents 5% of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of this notice, at such prices, to such
persons, on such terms and at such times as the Directors of the Company may from time to time determine in their discretion, such disapplication
to expire on the earlier of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and 15 months after the date on which this resolution is passed.
9. In accordance with the recommendations of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance, to authorise the Board of Directors to grant share
options (under the Company’s unapproved share option scheme) to any Non-Executive Directors as part of their remuneration package, with such
authority expiring at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
By order of the Board

R V Vanderplank
Company Secretary
28 April 2008
Notes:
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above-mentioned meeting is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to attend and to
vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
2. To be effective, forms of proxy must be lodged at the Company’s registered office, 15-19 Athol Street, Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB, not later than
10.00 a.m. on 27 May 2008. Lodgement of a form of proxy will not prevent a member from attending and voting in person.
3. As at the close of business on the date preceeding this notice the Company’s issued share capital comprised 62,262,536 Ordinary Shares of US$0.01 each.
Each Ordinary Share carries the right to one vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company and, therefore, the total number of voting rights in the
Company as at the close of business on the date preceeding this notice is 62,262,536.
4. Copies of the Directors service contracts and letters of appointment will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Company during normal
business hours on any weekday (Saturday excepted) from the date of this document until the close of the Annual General Meeting and at the place of the
Annual General Meeting for at least 15 minutes prior to and during the Annual General Meeting.
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Definitions & Glossary of Terms:

THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.
If you are in any doubt as to the action to be taken, you should consult your stockbroker
or other financial adviser authorised pursuant to the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 immediately.

Definitions
AAPG
American Association of Petroleum Geologists
ABS
The American Bureau of Shipping
AGIP
Nigerian AGIP Oil Company Limited
AIM	the market of that name operated by the London
Stock Exchange
Assam block licence AS-ONN-2000/1
Bayelsa
Bayelsa Oil Company Limited
Board
the Board of Directors of Hardy Oil and Gas plc
the Company Hardy Oil and Gas plc
CPCL	Chennai Petroleum Company Limited, formerly
known as Madras Refinery Limited
CSR
corporate social responsibility
D3
licence KG-DWN-2003/1 awarded in NELP V
D9
licence KG-DWN-2001/1 awarded in NELP III
Dhirubhai 33 gas discovery on GS-01-B1 well
Dhirubhai 39 gas discovery on KGV-D3-A1 well
Dhirubhai 41 gas discovery on KGV-D3-B1 well
DPR
Nigerian Department of Petroleum Resources
Emerald
Emerald Energy Resources Limited
Eogas
EOGAS Petroleum & Geosciences Nigeria Ltd.
FDP
field development plan
FPU
floating production unit
FSO
floating storage and offloading vessel
GAIL
Gas Authority of India Limited
Ganesha
gas discovery on Fan-A1 well located in CY-OS/2
GCA
Gaffney, Cline & Associates Ltd.
GIO	
Government of India
Group
the Company and its subsidiaries
GS-01
licence GS-OSN-2000/1 awarded under NELP II
Hardy
Hardy Oil and Gas plc
HEPI
Hardy Exploration & Production (India) Inc.
HOEC
Hindustan Oil Exploration Company Limited
HON
Hardy Oil Nigeria Limited
HSE
health, safety and environment
IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards
IPO
initial public offering
London Stock
Exchange
London Stock Exchange plc
LTA
lost time accident
Main Market	Official List of the London Stock Exchange’s market
for listed securities
Millenium
Millenium Oil and Gas Company Limited
NELP	New Exploration Licensing Policy of the
Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas of India
NNPC
Nigerian National Petroleum Company
OML
oil mining licence
ONGC	Oil and Natural Gas Corporation Limited
Ordinary
the ordinary share of US$ 0.01 each in the capital
Shares
of the Company
SPE
Society of Petroleum Engineers
Phase III	the PY-3 development plan comprising the drilling
of two further wells, one intended for production
and one for water injection

If you have sold or transferred all of your ordinary shares in Hardy Oil and Gas Plc
(the “Company”) please forward this document and the accompanying form of proxy to
the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom the
sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.
Notice of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 15-19 Athol Street,
Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB on 29 May 2008 at 10.00 a.m. is set out at the end of this
document. A form of proxy is also enclosed with this document for use at the meeting.
Forms of proxy should be completed and returned to 15-19 Athol Street, Douglas,
Isle of Man IM1 1LB by no later than 10.00 a.m. on 27 May 2008.
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PSC
PY-3
Reliance
SPDC
UK
US
WPC

production sharing contract
licence CY-OS-90/1
Reliance Industries Limited
Shell Petroleum Development Company of Nigeria
United Kingdom
United States of America
World Petroleum Council

Glossary of terms:
$
United States dollars
2D/3D
two dimensional/three dimensional
2P
proven plus probable
API°
American Petroleum Institute gravity
AVO
amplitude variations with offset
bbl
barrel
Bcf
Billion cubic feet
bwpd
barrels of water per day
Contingent
Resources	those quantities of petroleum estimates,
as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable
from known accumulations by application of
development projects, but which are not currently
considered to be commercially recoverable due
to one or more contingencies
DST
drill stem test
DWT
dead weight tonne
FDP
field development plan
GIIP
gas initially in place
GOR
gas to oil ratio
km
kilometre
kilometre squared
km2
lkm
line kilometre
m
metre
MDRT
measured depth from the rotary table
MDT
modular formation dynamics tester
MMbbl
million barrels
MMscfd
million standard cubic feet per day
MMstbd
million stock tank barrels per day
Prospective
Resources	those quantities of petroleum which are estimated,
as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable
from undiscovered accumulations
PSDM
pre-stack depth migration
psi
pounds per square inch
scf
standard cubic feet
scfd
standard cubic feet per day
SPM
single point mooring
stb
stock tank barrel
stbd
stock tank barrel per day
TCF
trillion cubic feet
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